“76 o B e i PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Health Department www.vbcassdhd.org 269.621.3143

Wednesday October 1, 2025

The Van Buren/Cass District Board of Health will hold their regularly scheduled meeting on
Wednesday, October 8, 2025 at 3:00 pm. The meeting will be held at the Van Buren ISD
Conference Center at 490 S Paw Paw St. Lawrence, Ml in the Loring Room as well as on
Microsoft Teams.

AGENDA
1. Roll call
2. Minutes of Previous Meeting
3. Finance Director’s Report
4., Administrator/Health Officer’s Report

5. Nursing Report

6. Medical Director

7. Dental Report

8. Environmental Health Report
9. Health Promotions Report

10. Other Business
11. Public Comment

12. Adjournment

Dowagiac 302 S. Front St. Dowagiac, M1 49047 | Lawrence 260 South Street, Lawrence, M| 49064



Van Buren/Cass District Health Department Minutes
09/10/2025

Chairperson Leary called the meeting to order at 3:01pm at 302 So Front Street, Dowagiac MI in the
Community Center on September 10, 2025. Roll call taken.

Board members present: Jeremiah Jones, Tina Leary, Robert Linderman, Priscilla Gatties and Roseann
Marchetti

Board members absent: Randall Peat

Employees present: Alisha Bartlett, Nancy Desai, Lauren Jaramillo, Danielle Persky in-person and Kelly
Adkins, Dr. Larry Wile, Jennifer Zordan virtually

Others: Roger Boyer, Jerry Marchetti in-person and Karen Tan virtually

August meeting minutes were reviewed. Motioned by Jones and second by Marchetti to approve the
meeting minutes as written. All voting yes, motion carried.

Finance Director’s Report

Desai reviewed the July disbursements with the board, then moved to the budget documents for fiscal year
(FY) 2026. $1.5 million dollars was invested with MI Class generating approximately $50,000 in interest
income. The 2026 fiscal year budget is noted to have a $253,000 deficit. Fund balance will be used to
balance the budget. The budgets are organized by division. Linderman asked about county appropriations.
County appropriations are used to handle the deficit in Clinical Health, which Persky highlighted as the
intended purpose. Desai answered that the appropriations from Van Buren and Cass Counties for the FY
have been approved. Persky thanked Cass County for the increase of five percent. The creation and meeting
of the Ad Hoc Dental Committee is working on several cost-saving strategies with more details to come.
Desai will continue to review the budget and bring back any necessary amendments as state budgets are
finalized. Linderman asked how quickly an updated fee structure can be put into place. Persky answered
that it can be put into effect immediately. Linderman asked if that’s just for dental or other programs. Persky
answered it could be for all programs, such as the Tuberculosis (TB) fees. Persky will bring fee schedule
recommendations to the board once organized.

Leary asked about the state budget. Persky responded that the health department runs the risk of losing
several programs if the House passed budget is carried through. Notices of awards for FY26 grants are
moving forward as communicated from the State thus far. Desai highlighted the potential decrease of Public
Health Emergency Preparedness (PHEP) for community outreach, but nothing has been solidified. The
Hearing and Vision program is required by law, so the question would be who would ensure that program
gets carried out.

Desai and Persky moved to the salary schedule in the packet. This schedule was recommended after the
FYE 2024accounting audit. A salary schedule is required by audited guidelines. During the audit process,
they will review the role title and confirm that the employee’s salary falls within the salary schedule.

Desai reviewed the cost-of-living adjustment staff report. Insurance was projected to increase by fifteen
percent, but it instead went up only two percent. This increase is a shared cost between staff and the health
department. Desai continued by recommending a two percent cost of living adjustment for staff. Supporting
documentation from the Department of Treasury and Social Security Administration was provided. Desai



Van Buren/Cass District Health Department Minutes
09/10/2025

also noted that it’s important to be equitable and support employee morale. Linderman agreed that being
competitive matters.

Discussed and reviewed. Motioned by Gatties, second by Marchetti to accept the cost-of-living adjustment
staff report. All voting yes, motion carried.

Discussed and reviewed. Motioned by Jones, second by Gatties to accept the salary schedule. All voting
yes, motion carried.

Discussed and reviewed. Motioned by Jones, second by Marchetti to accept the FY26 budget report. All
voting yes, motion carried.

Expenditures Report
Updates are discussed in the board packet and no motion is carried.
Administrator/Health Officer’s Report

Don Hanson’s formal resignation is reviewed by Persky. Motioned by Marchetti, second by Jones to
accept the resignation. All voting yes, motion carried.

Persky is working to find a Van Buren County member at large to fill this vacancy. Persky then reviewed
current board terms. It was confirmed that Gatties’ term is until December 31, 2025, and Jones noted the
term extension form on the county website. Cass County Commissioner board assignments are reviewed
yearly by the commissioner chairperson. Van Buren County terms align with their commissioner term.
Linderman’s member at large term is through January 1, 2027.

Persky moved to discuss the proposed staff handbook with Bartlett leading. Barlett noted that the
handbook was reviewed to remove redundancies and yearly benefit information. Yearly benefit
information can be found in Employee Navigator and a summary booklet. Several other changes were
highlighted such as paid time off (PTO), mileage reimbursement, and company vehicle usage. Leary
asked about caps on PTO accrual. Bartlett responded that it depends on the years of service for accrual.
Persky detailed the PTO cashout program, which allows staff to cash out remaining PTO twice a year if
they retain eighty hours. The board commented on the county policies around PTO cashout. Short-term
disability (STD) policies were also updated for staff to use PTO during the seven calendar days before
STD starts. It is optional for staff to use PTO to supplement once STD starts. Jones asked if the board
would be able to approve today instead of waiting until next month.

Discussed and reviewed. Motioned by Jones, second by Marchetti to accept the employee handbook. All
voting yes, motion carried.

Nursing and Medical Director Report

Dr. Wile highlighted the information in the board report. Marchetti asked Dr. Wile about the current rates
of COVID-19 cases. Dr. Wile responded that although an uptick is not being seen, many are hearing
about an increase. Most are not tested at this point.

Dental Report



Van Buren/Cass District Health Department Minutes
09/10/2025

Persky referred to the staff report by Emily Flowers to request a purchase of an autoclave with extra
funding through the SEAL! program. The quotes were reviewed. Linderman asked where it would be
located. Persky stated the basement or dental clinic depended on where the water hookup is.

Discussed and reviewed. Motioned by Jones, second by Marchetti to accept the autoclave purchase staff
report. All voting yes, motion carried.

Environmental Health Report

Updates are discussed in the written report.
Health Promotions Report

Updates are discussed in the written report.

Persky thanked the Board of Health for their support in building an organization that is transparent. The
continued support will bring more positive changes. Persky highlighted current discussions around public
health childhood vaccination waivers and provided communication language for the board. With national
and local conversations around vaccination waivers, Persky reminded all that waiver sessions are a public
health tool where parents are positioned to make an active choice as opposed to a choice of
convenience/passive choice. Jones asked for Persky’s thoughts on employer waivers requiring individuals
to select religious or medical exemptions for vaccinations. Persky noted that the health department’s
policy is along the same lines as the religious or medical exemptions, but there is no questioning of the
reason once it is received. The health department may require employees to wear a mask if they do not
have the vaccination. Going back to children’s vaccinations, the schools need to meet a certain level of
vaccination compliance, and the waiver is a part of that required percentage.

For public comment, Boyer asked why it is so critical to be vaccinated if the risk of getting the disease is
on the unvaccinated, not the one that was vaccinated. Persky responded that although someone not being
vaccinated may not affect someone who is vaccinated, it’s for those who are medically vulnerable and
unable to receive the vaccine. It’s important to consider protecting the vulnerable. Tan noted her concern
that children who are unable to be vaccinated and are wearing a mask may be singled out.

Motion to adjourn at 3:57pm by Jones, second by Marchetti. The next regular District Board of Health
meeting is scheduled for October 8, at 3:00pm in the Van Buren ISD Conference Center at 490 S Paw
Paw St. Lawrence, MI.

Tina Leary, Board of Health Chairperson

Danielle Persky, Health Officer

Lauren Jaramillo, Board of Health Secretary



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 8/1/2025 Through 8/31/2025

Document Check Check
Item No. Date Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Amount

1 08/152025 081525PR Various Employees 081525 Payroll Salary & Wages 180,710.23

2 8/29/2025 082925PR Various Employees 082925 Payroll Salary & Wages 174,563.17

3 8/1/2025 080125PR Various Employees 080125 Payroll Salary & Wages 172,965.17

4 8/8/2025 49036316 Blue Care Network of Michigan BCN 08.01.25-08.31.25 EMBEDEDHD 23,559.21

5 8/8/2025 49036317 Blue Care Network of Michigan BCN 08.01.25-08.31.25 BCN BEP HRA 5000 20 22,974.98

6 8/8/2025 12874 Van Buren Cass Community Health Properties Lawrence Building Rent 08.01.25-08.31.25 19,200.91

7 8/29/2025 45571730 Internal Revenue Services Department of Treasury 08292025PR Federal Tax Deposit 13,353.97

8 8/19/2025 44111371 Internal Revenue Services Department of Treasury 08152025PR Federal Tax Deposit 13,042.44

9 8/5/2025 63774530 Internal Revenue Services Department of Treasury 08012025PR Federal Tax Deposit 12,287.01
10 8/8/2025 12854 Michigan Municipal Risk Property Liability Insurance Period 07.01.25-09.30.25 12,077.00
11 8/18/2025 722774 MERS Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan MERS Employer DC 081525PR 8,210.63
12 8/1/2025 720936 MERS Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan MERS Employer DC 080125PR 8,135.43
13 8/5/2025 V080520251 Abila, Inc. MIP Maintenance & Support 07.18.25-07.17.26 7,697.89
14 8/15/2025 12883 Benco Dental Company 08.15.25 Dental Supplies PO 9236 7,604.23
15 8/8/2025 12873 Van Buren Cass Community Health Properties Dowagiac Building Rent 08.01.25-08/.31.25 7,100.00
16 8/31/2025 08312025 DP  Huntington National Bank C/C Charges 08.01.25-08.31.25 6,949.10
17 8/25/2025 12910 Van Buren Intermediate School District Lawrence Building Electrical 04.2025-06.2025 6,545.62
18 8/5/2025 12825 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Dental Laboratory Services - Various Patients 6,540.00
19 8/29/2025 723908 MERS Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan MERS Employer DC 082925PR 6,516.04
20 8/5/2025 12841 Paw Paw Collision, LLC 2024 Equinox (Black) VIN# RL280519 6,458.72
21 8/8/2025 12859 Fishbeck Space Needs Assessment - Progress Billing - Final 6,440.10
22 8/8/2025 12867 KnowBe4, Inc. Security/Awareness Training Subscription 7.31.25-7.30.28 4,601.35
23 8/5/2025 12848 US Business Systems Inc Copy Machine Base Rate Chgs 07/24/25-10/24/25 4,589.00
24 8/31/2025 08312025 ND Huntington National Bank C/C Charges 08.01.25-08.31.25 3,669.84
25 8/15/2025 12877 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Dental Laboratory Services - Various Patients 3,550.50
26 8/25/2025 12895 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Dental Laboratory Services - Various Patients 3,133.00
27 8/25/2025 12906 Standard Insurance Company STD/Life Insurance Premiums - September 2,974.88
28 8/5/2025 12844 Standard Insurance Company STD/Life Insurance - August 2,434.37
29 8/5/2025 DD080525 Delta Dental Dental Insurance Premium - 07.01.25-07.31.25 2,383.76
30 8/25/2025 12898 Patterson Dental Dental Supplies PO# 9239 2,300.83
31 8/8/2025 12857 DBIXIT Professional Network Support 7.03.25-7.31.25 1,960.00
32 8/8/2025 12860 Foune Well Drilling Beach/Water Testing 1,900.00
33 8/8/2025 12850 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Dental Laboratory Services - Various Patients 1,862.00
34 8/25/2025 12910 Van Buren Intermediate School District Lawrence Building Natural Gas 04.2025-06.2025 1,850.93
35 8/15/2025 12889 Preferred Printing KOHA Printing K-Screening 1,814.00
36 8/25/2025 12903 City of Dowagiac Dowagiac Building Utilities 07.01.25-07.31.25 1,765.69

Date: 10/6/2025 5:08:41 PM

Page: 1



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report

From 8/1/2025 Through 8/31/2025

Document Check Check
Item No. Date Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Amount
37 8/5/2025 12833 City of Dowagiac Electric/Water/Sewer 06.01.25-06.30.25 1,607.36
38 8/8/2025 12854 Michigan Municipal Risk State Pool Loss Fund period 07.01.25-09.30.25 1,600.00
39 8/15/2025 12886 Michigan Dept of Agriculture & Rural Development Food Service Licensing Fees 1,598.00
40 8/15/2025 12885 State of Michigan Temp Campground License-State Portion 1,501.00
41 8/15/2025 12880 Altamont Handpiece Repair Dental Handpiece Repairs PO 9234 889.98
42 8/5/2025 12845 Staples Business Credit Office Supplies PO# 9214 840.30
43 8/25/2025 12905 Pfizer Inc ABRYSVO (RSV) 120mcg 3 doses Lot# LL8391 Exp 5.31.26 811.79
44 8/5/2025 12827 Benco Dental Company Dental Supplies PO# 9182 803.13
45 8/8/2025 12861 Garrett Laboratories Inc. Water Testing E.Coli, Coliforms, Nitrite/Nitrate 793.38
46 8/25/2025 12905 Pfizer Inc TRUMENBA (MEN-B) 5 doses Batch MF2128 Exp 12.31.28 762.91
47 8/5/2025 12849 Verizon Wireless Cellular Phone Billing 07.09.25-08.08.25 748.91
48 8/5/2025 V080520256 Carr, Ellen Beach/Vector/Food Mileage Reimbursement 07.01-07.31.25 683.90
49 8/15/2025 12878 AFLAC Traditional and Direct AFLAC Monthly Premium - August 2025 668.60
50 8/25/2025 12901 American Proficiency Institute Urinalysis & HCG/Rapid HIV-2/Annual Enrollment Fee 656.00
51 8/8/2025 12856 Crystal Flash Company Vehicle Fuel 602.55
52 8/8/2025 V080820253 Lint, Brian Mileage Reimbursement - B Lint Sewer/Well/Camp 7.1-7.31.25 602.00
53 8/5/2025 12826 Airgas USA, LLC Nitrous & Oxygen Cylinder Fills 570.32
54 8/15/2025 12890 Quadient, Inc Postage Meter Rental/ Maintenance 08.01.25-11.30.25 524.94
55 8/5/2025 12837 Frontier Communications Dowagiac Fax Line - 269.782.0121 521.32
56 8/8/2025 12858 Everstream Solutions, LLC Data Lines 08.01.25-08.31.25 505.80
57 8/25/2025 12897 Henry Schein Inc Dental Supplies PO# 9204 505.44
58 8/8/2025 V080820254 McNair, Caitlin Mileage Reimb - C McNair - Pool/Camp/Food 7.1-7.31.25 494.90
59 8/5/2025 12828 Patterson Dental Dental Supplies PO# 9193 482.92
60 8/8/2025 V080820257 Taylor, Corrinne Mileage Reimb. - C Taylor Sewer/Well/Housing 7.2-7.29.25 465.50
61 8/8/2025 12851 Anterior Quest Liquid Dental Waste Removal Dowagiac - July 458.00
62 8/5/2025 12835 Fidelity Security Life Insurance Co. Vision Insurance Premiums - August 2025 455.34
63 8/8/2025 V080820251 Conway, Richard Mileage Reimb. - R Conway Food License/Insp. 6.30-7.30.25 450.10
64 8/15/2025 12879 Airgas USA, LLC Gas Cylinder Rental 444.29
65 8/15/2025 12891 Quadient Leasing USA, Inc. Postage Meter Lease Payment - Dowagiac 08.25-12.25 381.15
66 8/15/2025 12887 Patterson Dental 08.15.25 Dental Supplies PO 9237 368.60
67 8/15/2025 12892 Staples Business Credit Office Supplies PO# 9222 351.05
68 8/8/2025 V080820256 Smith, Jessica Mileage Reimbursement - J Smith Food Insp. 7.1-7.31.25 343.70
69 8/15/2025 V081520256 TelNet Worldwide Desk Phone Services - 08.01.25-08.31.25 333.16
70 8/5/2025 V080520255 Burge, Rebecca Type Il Well Mileage Reimbursement - 07.14.25-07.28.25 322.70
71 8/5/2025 12842 Sanofi Pasteur IPOL 40/8/32 U/.5ml SUS 5ml MDV BTC# Y1D03P1 Exp. 08.31.27 316.49
72 8/25/2025 12896 Benco Dental Company Dental Supplies PO# 9233 312.22

Date: 10/6/2025 5:08:41 PM

Page: 2



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 8/1/2025 Through 8/31/2025

Document Check Check
Item No. Date Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Amount
73 8/25/2025 12911 I - Refund 310.00
74 8/5/2025 12839 MALPH-Administrator's Forum PH Finance/Billing Conf 10/16-10/17 - D.Rouse/N.Desai 300.00
75 8/5/2025 12847 United States Postal Service Postage - Dowagiac 300.00
76 8/8/2025 12869 Menards Janitorial Supplies 289.98
77 8/8/2025 12875 Waste Management Waste Removal - Dowagiac 08.01.25-08.31.25 281.42
78 8/25/2025 12904 City of Dowagiac Dowagiac Building Utilities 07.01.25-07.31.25 254.44
79 8/5/2025 12836 Foster Swift Collins & Smith PC Prof Srvcs RE: Patient Dismissal 250.00
80 8/25/2025 12909 The UPS Store #3816 Shipping CD Program/Rabies Prevention/TB Control 243.50
81 8/5/2025 12834 City of Dowagiac Electric/Water/Sewer 06.01.25-06.30.25 242.56
82 8/25/2025 12910 Van Buren Intermediate School District Lawrence Building Water/Sewer 04.2025-06.2025 224.49
83 8/15/2025 12888 The Proctor & Gamble Distributing, LLC 08.15.25 Dental Supplies PO 9192 209.58
84 8/8/2025 12875 Waste Management Waste Removal Lawrence 08.01.2025 - 08.31.2025 197.65
85 8/15/2025 V081520251 Lingo Telecom, LLC Elevator Emergency Phone Line 190.81
86 8/8/2025 12863 Gordon Water Systems Water Cooler Rental/Water 186.89
87 8/8/2025 12872 The UPS Store #3816 Rabies Prevention Shipping 175.57
88 8/5/2025 V080520258 Friday, George Sewer/Well/ICS Mileage Reimbursement 168.70
89 8/25/2025 V 082520254 Qosterwal, Susan Mileage Reimbursement S Oosterwal, Conference Meals 164.29
90 8/8/2025 12853 Patterson Dental Dental Supplies PO# 9208 154.90
91 8/5/2025 V080520252 Adkins, Kelly ICS/Eat Well Be Well Mileage Reimbursement 07.15.25-07.31.25 135.24
92 8/15/2025 12884 Frontier Communications Lawrence Fax Line - 269.674.4914 134.60
93 8/8/2025 12865 Hospital Network Healthcare Sharps Removal - Lawrence 07.14.25 134.06
94 8/5/2025 12829 Spencer's Soft Water Water Cooler/Water/Dental Distilled Water Order 132.51
95 8/25/2025 V 082520252 Burge, Rebecca Mileage Reimb R Burge 08.13.2025 - Type Il Well Inspect 120.40
96 8/15/2025 V081520257 Vogt, Kimberlee Miles Reimbursement K Vogt CD Program 01.13.2025-08.08.2025 115.67
97 8/8/2025 12868 Linderman, Robert Board Meeting PerDiem & Mileage July Meeting 108.94
98 8/15/2025 V081520253 Hoenes, Missie Miles Reimb. Dental Assisting M Hoenes 7.16.25-7.23.25 108.08
99 8/5/2025 12846 - e 108.00
100 8/15/2025 12893 The UPS Store #3816 Shipping CD Program - Rabies Prevention 106.20
101 8/25/2025 V 082520251 Burge, Rebecca NEHA Membership Reimbursement R Burge 105.00
102 8/5/2025 V08052025 11 Slack, Lisa Uniform Reimb - L.Slack 100.00
103 8/5/2025 V080520257 Friday, George Mileage Reimbursement 07.14, 07.16, 07.18.25 94.50
104 8/25/2025 12907 Staples Business Credit Dental Office Supplies PO# 9249 93.28
105 8/8/2025 12855 - e 91.00
106 8/31/2025 08312025 RH Huntington National Bank C/C Charges 08.01.25-08.31.25 88.62
107 8/8/2025 12871 Phonetics, Inc. dba Sensaphone Vaccine Monitoring Device Annual Ethernet 83.40
108 8/5/2025 V080520253 Baker, Diana LEAD Visit/IMMS/FEMA Final Drill 6/05, 07.23.25 82.60

Date: 10/6/2025 5:08:41 PM

Page: 3



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department

Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report

From 8/1/2025 Through 8/31/2025

Document Check Check
Item No. Date Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Amount
109 8/25/2025 12899 Ultradent Dental Supplies PO# 9235 82.31
110 8/5/2025 V08052025 10 Kazlauskas, Mindie Dental Assistant Mileage Reimbursement 07.21.25-07.30.25 81.06
111 8/5/2025 V08052025 12 Slack, Lisa Dental Assistant Mileage - 7.2, 7.9, 7.29.25 81.06
112 8/5/2025 V080520259 Kazlauskas, Mindie Dental Assistant Mileage Reimbursement 07.10, 07.14, 07.18.2 81.06
113 8/8/2025 12870 - e 76.00
114 8/15/2025 12894 Van Buren County Mental Health Human Services Collaborative Council Dues 75.00
115 8/15/2025 V081520252 Friday, George Miles Reimb. Sewer/Water/Pool G Friday 7.31.25-8.6.25 72.80
116 8/8/2025 12876 West Michigan Document Shredding, LLC Secure Shredding Services 08.05.25 67.00
117 8/8/2025 V080820259 Marchetti, Roseann Board Meeting PerDiem & Mileage July 65.96
118 8/5/2025 12830 - e 65.00
119 8/8/2025 12862 Gatties, Priscilla Board Meeting PerDiem & Mileage July Meeting 59.80
120 8/8/2025 12866 Jones, Jeremiah Board Meeting PerDiem & Mileage July Meeting 59.24
121 8/8/2025 12852 Benco Dental Company Dental Supplies PO# 9044 57.48
122 8/25/2025 12908 Summit Fire Protection Monthly Fire Extinguisher Inspection 56.00
123 8/25/2025 V 082520253 Kazlauskas, Mindie Mileage Reimbursement Dental M Kazlauskas 8.8 & 8.11 54.04
124 8/8/2025 V080820255 Rank, Miranda Dental Assistant Mileage Reimbursement -M Rank 7/18 & 8/1/25 54.04
125 8/8/2025 V080820252 Eldred, Melissa Hearing & Vision Mileage Reimb. - M Eldred 7.14-7.30.25 44.24
126 8/15/2025 V081520255 Rouse, Dawn Mileage Reimb. D Rouse H & V, Imms Clerical Support 43.12
127 8/5/2025 V08052025 13 Young, Holly OutReach Mileage Reimbursement - 07.26.25-07.29.25 40.81
128 8/1/2025 080125PR Rebecca L. Burge Cell 40.00
129 8/1/2025 080125PR Ellen E. Carr Cell 40.00
130 8/1/2025 080125PR Richard T. Conway Cell 40.00
131 8/1/2025 080125PR Anna L. De La Rosa Cell 40.00
132 8/1/2025 080125PR Nancy B. Desai Cell 40.00
133 8/1/2025 080125PR George D. Friday Cell 40.00
134 8/1/2025 080125PR Lauren E. Jaramillo Cell 40.00
135 8/1/2025 080125PR Amy M. Malsbary Cell 40.00
136 8/1/2025 080125PR Danielle Persky Cell 40.00
137 8/1/2025 080125PR Jessica A. Smith Cell 40.00
138 8/1/2025 080125PR Michele L. Woodhams Cell 40.00
139 8/1/2025 080125PR Jennifer L. Zordan Cell 40.00
140 8/5/2025 12843 Semco Energy Utilities - Natural Gas 06.06.25-07.09.25 39.88
141 8/25/2025 12902 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan BCBS CDH Monthly Fee 07/25 35.55
142 8/15/2025 V081520254 McNair, Caitlin Reimbursement - Laptop Backpack C McNair 35.23
143 8/5/2025 12838 Hanson Beverage Services Distilled Water Order 35.00
144 8/5/2025 12840 - e 35.00

Date: 10/6/2025 5:08:41 PM

Page: 4



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 8/1/2025 Through 8/31/2025

Document Check Check
Item No. Date Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Amount
145 8/5/2025 12831 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan BCBS CDH Monthly Fee - 06/25 31.60
146 8/15/2025 12881 A-mazing Acres, LLC Refund Food License Over payment 3 times $10 30.00
147 8/25/2025 V 082520255 Slack, Lisa Dental Assistant Mileage Reimbursement 08.18.2025 27.02
148 8/8/2025 V080820258 Wanberg, Sherri Dental Assistant Mileage Reimbursement - S Wanberg 7.21.25 27.02
149 8/15/2025 12882 - e 25.00
150 8/5/2025 V080520254 Balcuns, Nicole 07/30 Outreach to Covert Library Mileage Reimb 22.40
151 8/31/2025 08312025JD  Huntington National Bank C/C Charges 08.01.25-08.31.25 20.00
152 8/31/2025 08312025 EF  Huntington National Bank C/C Charges 08.01.25-08.31.25 16.77
153 8/25/2025 12900 Spencer's Soft Water Water Cooler Rental 14.98

154 8/8/2025 12864 Y 01ta! Refund 9.00

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS - AUGUST $795,687.10

Date: 10/6/2025 5:08:41 PM Page: 5



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 9/1/2025 Through 9/30/2025

Item No. DocumentDate Check Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Check Amount

1 9/26/2025 092625PR Various Employees 092625PR Salary & Wages 169,819.21
2 9/12/2025 091225PR Various Employees 091225PR Salary & Wages 163,484.90
3 9/18/2025 12977 Patagonia Health Inc PatagoniaContract Renewal - 10.01.25-09.30.26 46,447.88
4 9/18/2025 49213355 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Ml Health Insurance Premium - HMO 09.01.25-09.30.25 23,012.51
5 9/18/2025 49213375 Blue Care Network of Michigan Health Insurance Premium 09.01.25-09.30.25 20,372.76
6 9/15/2025 12948 Van Buren Cass Community Health Properties Lawrence BLDG Rent 09.01.25 19,200.91
7 9/30/2025 21470925 Internal Revenue Services Department of Treasury 09262025REG PR - FICA/Medicare/Federal Taxes 11,682.38
8 9/15/2025 53791461 Internal Revenue Services Department of Treasury 091225PR Federal Tax Deposit FICA/Med 11,325.75
9 9/18/2025 12952 Accident Fund Insurance Co. AF WCP Oct, Nov, Dec 2025 Premium 8,432.00
10 9/26/2025 727812 MERS Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan 09262025REG PR - MERS DC Contribution 8,302.20
11 9/15/2025 726043 MERS Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan 091225PR MERS Employer Contribution 8,149.09
12 9/30/2025 12991 Patterson Dental Dental Supplies PO# 9257 7,854.88
13 9/30/2025 12986 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Denatal Laboratory Service- Various Patients 7,548.00
14 9/15/2025 12947 Van Buren Cass Community Health Properties Dowagiac BLDG Rent 09.01.25 7,100.00
15 9/18/2025 12951 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Denatal Laboratory Service- Various Patients 6,758.50
16 9/30/2025 V01106 Health Equity HRA Expenses - September 6,272.94
17 9/15/2025 12912 Sentage Corp DBA Dental Services Group Denatal Laboratory Service- Various Patients 5,414.00
18 9/30/2025 13009 Pfizer Inc Comirnaty 0.1 mg/ml 50 doses Lot# MY6547 Exp 6.15.26 5,034.42
19 9/15/2025 12915 Benco Dental Company Dental Supplies - PO#9228 4,816.24
20 9/18/2025 09182025 3 Dell Marketing L.P. PowerEdge Server R360 System Service Tag - JPR6YB4 4,751.25
21 9/18/2025 12965 Everstream Solutions, LLC Dedicated Internet Access/Ethernet - Sept 3,888.00
22 9/18/2025 12970 Glaxo Smith Kline Pharmaceuticals FLUARIX TIV Lot# 2CA5M, Expdate 06.30.26 200 doses 3,761.10
23 9/30/2025 12998 Foster Swift Collins & Smith PC Legal Services 08.04.25 - 09.31.25 3,300.00
24 9/30/2025 12995 DBIXIT Prof. Network Support 09.02.25-09.30.25 Server Install 3,111.50
25 9/30/2025 12989 Benco Dental Company Dental Supplies PO# 9253 2,935.73
26 9/15/2025 12918 Delta Dental Dental Insurance Premiums - 08/2025 2,861.52
27 9/18/2025 12983 Virtru Corporation Email Encryption Business Package Renewal 09.29.25-09.28.26 2,575.00
28 9/15/2025 12940 Standard Insurance Company Life & Short-Term Disability Premiums 09.01.25-09.30.25 2,396.27
29 9/18/2025 12962 DBIXIT Professional Network Support 08.07.25-08.28.25 2,376.50
30 9/18/2025 12963 Delta Dental Dental Insurance Premium 09.01.25-09.30.25 2,227.90
31 9/15/2025 12916 Control Solutions Inc. Data Logger Kits PO# 9217 2,105.85
32 9/30/2025 9302025 ND Huntington National Bank C/C Transactions 09/2025 2,030.38
33 9/30/2025 12999 Foune Well Drilling Laboratory Testing - Beach/Water/EColi/Coliform/Nitrate 1,825.00
34 9/30/2025 13002 Glaxo Smith Kline Pharmaceuticals Engerix-B 10MCG/Engerix-B 20MCG/Havrix 720ELU/Havrix PFS 1,782.41
35 9/30/2025 09302025 DP  Huntington National Bank C/C Transactions 09/2025 1,553.55
36 9/30/2025 12996 City of Dowagiac Electric/Water/Sewer 08.01.25-08.31.25 1,533.02
37 9/18/2025 12969 Garrett Laboratories Inc. EColi/Coliforms/Nitrite Water Testing 1,530.09

Date: 10/7/2025 9:16:05 AM

Page: 1



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report

From 9/1/2025 Through 9/30/2025

Item No. DocumentDate Check Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Check Amount
38 9/18/2025 12967 Foune Well Drilling Laboratory Water Testing - Coliform/EColi/Nitrate 1,525.00
39 9/15/2025 12936 RHC Consulting Everstream Data Credit 12.01.24-01.31.25 02.02.25-3.31.25 1,504.62
40 9/30/2025 13012 Staples Business Credit Janitorial Supplies/Office Supplies PO# 9283 1,336.69
41 9/18/2025 12978 Patterson Dental Dental Supplies PO# 9267 1,077.43
42 9/18/2025 12974 Dental Refund - Client Dismissed 1,050.00
43 9/30/2025 12988 Altamont Handpiece Repair Handpiece Repairs - 4 handpieces - Dowagiac 1,039.96
44 9/15/2025 12944 United States Postal Service Postage Refill - Lawrence Meter 1,000.00
45 9/30/2025 13006 Legal Shield Legal Services Premiums - July-September 2025 855.40
46 9/18/2025 12958 Benco Dental Company Dental Supplies PO# 9230 853.93
47 9/18/2025 12961 Creative Catering SRP Training 09.16.25 - Catering/WellBeing Grant 795.00
48 9/15/2025 12933 Patterson Dental Dental Supplies - PO# 9229 753.27
49 9/18/2025 12954 Airgas USA, LLC Dental Supplies PO# 9279 - O2 Cylinders 718.86
50 9/15/2025 V08312025 14 Smith, Jessica Mileage Reimbursement - JSmith - Food 693.00
51 9/15/2025 12941 Staples Business Credit Office Supplies PO# 9257 679.76
52 9/15/2025 12917 Crystal Flash Vehicel Fuel - 08.01.25-08.24.25 678.75
53 9/18/2025 12953 AFLAC Traditional and Direct AFLAC Insurance Premiums 10.01.25 668.60
54 9/30/2025 V09302025 14 Persky, Danielle Mileage Reimbursement - DPersky 07.01.25-09.30.25 661.71
55 9/15/2025 V083120253 Cairr, Ellen Mileage Reimb - ECarr - Sewer/Beach/Vector/Food 648.20
56 9/30/2025 13015 Verizon Wireless Cellular Services 08.09.25-09.08.25 604.70
57 9/15/2025 12949 Verizon Wireless Cellular Phone Billing 7.9.25-8.8.25 604.48
58 9/15/2025 12919 Foster Swift Collins & Smith PC Prof Srvs: Patient Dismissal/Dental Restructuring 600.00
59 9/30/2025 13000 Frontier Communications Dowagiac Fax Line - 269.782.0121 09.14.25-10.13.25 584.14
60 9/15/2025 V0831202510 Lint, Brian Mileage Reimb - BLint - Sewer/Well/Camp/Housing 578.90
61 9/15/2025 V0831202511 McNair, Caitlin Mileage Reimb - CMcNair - Pool/Food/Misc 08.01-08.31.25 570.50
62 9/30/2025 V093020255 Carr, Ellen Mileage Reimbursement ECarr - Food/Vector/Beaches 568.40
63 9/30/2025 12994 Crystal Flash Vehicle Fuel Cost 561.16
64 9/30/2025 V0930202511 Lint, Brian Mileage Reimbursement BLint - Well/Sewer 557.90
65 9/18/2025 12979 SBF Enterprises #10 Envelopes Window & Non-Window 536.88
66 9/15/2025 12920 Frontier Communications Dowagiac fax Line - 2697820121 8.14-9.13.25 522.25
67 9/30/2025 V093020256 Conway, Richard Mileage Reimbursement - RConway - Food 492.80
68 9/15/2025 12930 Michigan Dept of Agriculture & Rural Development Food Servicing Licensing Fees 474.00
69 9/18/2025 12966 Fidelity Security Life Insurance Co. Vision Premiums - Regular & COBRA 453.33
70 9/18/2025 12955 Anterior Quest 2025 Annual Fees for Dental Waste Removal 450.00
71 9/15/2025 V08312025 15 Taylor, Corrinne Mileage Reimb C.Taylor - Well/Septic Inspections 421.40
72 9/30/2025 12990 State of Michigan Annual Rad Insp Fee FAC-REN-25-006932/FAC-REG-14-034413 414.61
73 9/30/2025 12987 Airgas USA, LLC Nitrous & Oxygen Cylinder Refills 373.64
74 9/15/2025 HUNT-SEPT Huntington National Bank Huntington Bank Charges/Interest Income - Sept 352.06

Date: 10/7/2025 9:16:05 AM

Page: 2



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 9/1/2025 Through 9/30/2025

Item No. DocumentDate Check Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Check Amount
75 9/15/2025 12927 Kalamazoo Mechanical, Inc Service Call - Vaccine Cooler Repair - Lawrence 350.30
76 9/30/2025 V09302025 19 Wile, Larry 2025 Premier Health Conference/Muskegon 342.70
77 9/15/2025 V083120254  Conway, Richard Mileage Reimb - RConway - Food 338.80
78 9/18/2025 091820256 TelNet Worldwide Desk Phone Service - 09.01.25-09.30.25 315.82
79 9/15/2025 12943 United States Postal Service Postage Refill - Dowagiac 300.00
80 9/30/2025 13013 United States Postal Service Dowagiac Postage Machine Account 300.00
81 9/18/2025 12984 Waste Management Waste Removal - Dowagiac - 09.01.25-09.30.25 280.06
82 9/18/2025 12975 Michigan Dept of Agriculture & Rural Development Food Service Licensing Fees 275.00
83 9/18/2025 12972 Johnson, Sherry Duplicate Well Permit Refund 250.00
84 9/30/2025 13004 Kalamazoo Excavation Septic Permit Refund - Not needed 250.00
85 9/18/2025 12973 LaFaire, James Septic Permit Refund 250.00
86 9/15/2025 12938 Schaus, Joseph Well Permit Refund - Not Needed 250.00
87 9/30/2025 12997 City of Dowagiac Electric/Water/Sewer 08.01.25-08.31.25 249.92
88 9/30/2025 V0930202521 Young, Holly Mileage Reimb ICS 400 Tng/HP Expo/Health Fair/Wellness 240.06
89 9/15/2025 12929 State of Michigan Laboratory Services 230.00
90 9/18/2025 12964 Dental Refund 228.00
91 9/30/2025 13005 Khusid, Marina Inspection Cancelled/No new Inspection at this time 200.00
92 9/18/2025 12984 Waste Management Waste Removal Services - Lawrence - 09.01.25-09.30.25 197.65
93 9/30/2025 V 093020254 Lingo Telecom, LLC Elevator Emergency Line 190.81
94 9/15/2025 12925 Henry Schein Inc Medical Supplies PO# 9278 186.03
95 9/30/2025 13014 The UPS Store #3816 Shipping - Rabies Prevention 184.83
96 9/30/2025 V 093020258 Friday, George Mileage Reimb Sewer/Well/Pool/Complaint 09.04.25-09.23.25 182.00
97 9/15/2025 V083120255 Friday, George Mileage Reimb G.Friday - 165.90
98 9/15/2025 12914 Auditory Instruments, Inc. Annual Calibration Beltone Machine 147.64
99 9/15/2025 12922 Gordon Water Systems Water/Water Cooler Rent - Lawrence 144.49
100 9/18/2025 091820255 Malsbary, Andrew 2025 NDAS Book Purchase Reimbursement 143.95
101 9/15/2025 12937 Rodriguez, Darlene Food License Refund - Not Used 140.00
102 9/30/2025 V 09302025 16 Slack, Lisa Mileage Reimb - Dental Assist - LSlack 9.8.25-9.29.25 135.10
103 9/15/2025 V0831202517 Wanberg, Sherri Dental Mileage Reimb. SWanberg 08.14-08.26.25 135.10
104 9/18/2025 12968 Frontier Communications Lawrence Fax Line - 09.05.25-10.04.25 134.91
105 9/18/2025 12960 I - R 130.00
106 9/15/2025 12945 The UPS Store #5277 Audiometer Sent For Repairs 124.69
107 9/15/2025 12935 R&S Northeast LLC Rifampin Cap 300MG 60 CT, Lot AB02113 Exp 4-27 124.10
108 9/30/2025 V09302025 17 Vogt, Kimberlee Mileage Reimb KVogt 08.08.25-09.19.25 121.80
109 9/18/2025 12982 The UPS Store #3816 Rabies Prevention Program Shipping 121.02
110 9/15/2025 12950 Village of Paw Paw Colilert/Nitrate Water Testing 120.00
111 9/15/2025 12913 Spencer's Soft Water Water/Water Cooler Rental/Distilled Water 117.53

Date: 10/7/2025 9:16:05 AM

Page: 3



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 9/1/2025 Through 9/30/2025

Item No. DocumentDate Check Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Check Amount
112 9/30/2025 13007 Linderman, Robert Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 09.10.25 108.80
113 9/15/2025 V083120257 Hoenes, Missie Dental Assist Mileage Reimb - MHoenes - 08.12-08.20.25 108.08
114 9/30/2025 V 09302025 10 Kazlauskas, Mindie Mileage Reimb SRP Training/Dental Assisting 09.16.25-09.23.2 108.08
115 9/15/2025 V08312025 13 Rouse, Dawn Mileage Reimb D.Rouse - Vaccine Screening Events 103.18
116 9/15/2025 12934 Paw Paw Public Schools Refund Of DSS Well/Septic Inspection 100.00
117 9/15/2025 12926 Jones, Jeremiah Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 08.13.25 84.30
118 9/15/2025 V083120258 Kazlauskas, Mindie Dental Assist Mileage Reimb. 08.21-08.26.25 81.06
119 9/18/2025 12981 Summit Fire Protection Monthly Extinguisher Inspection 81.00
120 9/15/2025 12928 Linderman, Robert Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 08.13.25 80.80
121 9/15/2025 12921 Gatties, Priscilla Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 08.13.25 80.10
122 9/15/2025 12932 New Age/Landmark Inc E.Coli/Coliform/Nitrite Testing 80.00
123 9/18/2025 12976 New Age/Landmark Inc Laboratory Testing - EColi/Coliform/Nitrate 80.00
124 9/30/2025 13008 New Age/Landmark Inc E.Coli/Coliform/Nitrate Testing 80.00
125 9/18/2025 09182025 1 Adkins, Kelly Mileage Reimbursement - EWBW 08.01.25-08.31.25 78.26
126 9/15/2025 V0831202512 Nyeboer, Myah Mileage Reim. - MNyeboer - 08.01-08.31.25 IMMS/HIV/STI/Meal 78.16
127 9/30/2025 V093020253 Bretz, Cristy Dental Hygeinist License Renewal - C Bretz 78.00
128 9/15/2025 V083120256  Friday, George Mileage Reimb - GFriday - Sewer/Well/Pool 77.70
129 9/15/2025 V083120252 Calderon, Cristina Dental License Recertification Reimb.- CCalderon 75.00
130 9/15/2025 12931 Mulrath, Jeffery Overpayment on Well For Home Loan 75.00
131 9/30/2025 V093020257 Eldred, Melissa Mileage Reimb. MEldred Hrg/Vis 08.01.25-08.31.25 74.20
132 9/30/2025 V09302025 18 Wagoner, Amy Mileage Reimb. AWagoner 09.01.25-09.30.25 74.20
133 9/18/2025 12985 West Michigan Document Shredding, LLC Secure Shredding SErvice 09.02.25 67.00
134 9/30/2025 13016 West Michigan Document Shredding, LLC Secure Shredding Services - 09.30.25 67.00
135 9/30/2025 V09302025 12 Marchetti, Roseann Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 09.10.25 65.96
136 9/18/2025 09182025 2 Burge, Rebecca Food & Gas Reimbursement - Type Il Conference 61.06
137 9/30/2025 12992 - e 60.00
138 9/30/2025 13001 Gatties, Priscilla Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 09.10.25 59.80
139 9/30/2025 13003 Jones, Jeremiah Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 09.10.25 59.24
140 9/15/2025 12924 Hanson, Don Board Meeting Per Diem & Mileage 08.13.25 58.40
141 9/30/2025 V09302025 15 Rank, Miranda Mileage Reimb SRP Training/Front Desk Relief 9.16.25-9.22.25 54.04
142 9/30/2025 V 09302025 13 Nyeboer, Myah Mileage Reimb MNyeboer STI/HIV 09.01.25-09.30.25 51.94
143 9/30/2025 13011 Semco Energy Utilities - Natural Gas - Dowagiac 42.98
144 9/15/2025 12939 Semco Energy Natural Gas - Utilities 41.06
145 9/12/2025 091225PR AnnaL.De LaRosa Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
146 9/12/2025 091225PR Amy M. Malsbary Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
147 9/12/2025 091225PR Danielle Persky Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
148 9/12/2025 091225PR Ellen E. Carr Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00

Date: 10/7/2025 9:16:05 AM

Page: 4



Van Buren-Cass District Health Department
Check/Voucher Register - Check Register - Board Report
From 9/1/2025 Through 9/30/2025

Item No. DocumentDate Check Number Vendor Name Transaction Description Check Amount
149 9/12/2025 091225PR George D. Friday Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
150 9/12/2025 091225PR Jessica A. Smith Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
151 9/12/2025 091225PR Jennifer L. Zordan Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
152 9/12/2025 091225PR Lauren E. Jaramillo Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
153 9/12/2025 091225PR Michele L. Woodhams Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
154 9/12/2025 091225PR Nancy B. Desai Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
155 9/12/2025 091225PR Rebecca L. Burge Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
156 9/12/2025 091225PR Richard T. Conway Cell Phone Reimbursement 40.00
157 9/15/2025 V0831202516 Wagoner, Amy Mileage Reimb A.Wagnor - H/V Clinics 39.90
158 9/18/2025 12959 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan CDH Monthly Fee - August 2025 39.50
159 9/15/2025 12923 Hanson Beverage Services Dental Supplies - Distilled Water 35.00
160 9/18/2025 12971 Hanson Beverage Services Dental Supplies - Distilled Water 35.00
161 9/30/2025 12993 Spencer's Soft Water Water/Water Cooler Rental 32.24
162 9/30/2025 V093020251 Balcuns, Nicole Mileage Reimbursement - NBalcuns - Home Visit/Imms 32.20
163 9/30/2025 V093020259 Hiemstra, Carrie Mileage Reimbursement - CHiemstra - RSP Training 27.02
164 9/15/2025 V083120259 Landon, Bree Dental Reimbursement - DOS 07/21/25 25.00
165 9/15/2025 12942 Summit Fire Protection Monthly Extinguisher Inspection 25.00
166 9/30/2025 13010 - e 23.92
167 9/18/2025 091820254 King, Karen Conference Food Reimbursement - Type |l Water 23.37
168 9/30/2025 V093020252 Bretz, Cristy Mileage Reimb. SRP Training - Lawrence 09.16.25 22.40
169 9/30/2025 V 09302025 20 Woodhams, Michele Mileage Reimbursement - MWoodhams - CSHCS Home Visit 21.00
170 9/15/2025 V083120251  Balcuns, Nicole Mileage Reimbursement - NBalcuns - 08.01.25-08.31.25 18.20
171 9/15/2025 12946 The UPS Store #3816 Water Sample Testing Long Term Monitoring 14.15
172 9/30/2025 09302025 CD  Huntington National Bank C/C Transactions 09/2025 10.00
173 9/18/2025 12980 Staples Business Credit Office Supplies - Large Staples 5.29

Date: 10/7/2025 9:16:05 AM

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS - SEPTEMBER $

624,816.77

Page: 5



VAN BUREN CASS DISTRICT HEALTH DEPT
REVENUE/EXPENSE REPORT

2 YEAR TO DATE AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 (UNAUDITED)
VBCDHD
ADOPTED % OF
FUNDING BUDGET AMENDED YTD BUDGET
FUNDING DESCRIPTION SOURCE AMOUNT BUDGET REVENUES  RECEIVED
FEDERAL FUNDING
CHILDREN'S SPECIAL HEALTH CARE OUTREACH & ADVOCACY DHHS 100,821 - -
COVID IMMUNIZATION DHHS - ETLHD 10,529 10,529 - 0.00%
COVID WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT DHHS - ETLHD 110,000 - -
CSHCS CARE COORDINATION DHHS 35,000 35,000 30,321 86.63%
CSHCS MEDICAID ELEVATED BLOOD LEAD CASE MGMT DHHS 5,000 5,000 1,552 31.04%
CSHCS MEDICAID OUTREACH DHHS 26,938 26,938 28,037 104.08%
CSHCS CARE VACCINE INITIATIVE DHHS 5,324 - -
INFECTION PREVENTION & HEALTHCARE - ASSOC INFECTIONS RESPONSE
SUPPORT DHHS - ETLHD 650,000 325,000 325,001 100.00%
HIV PREVENTION DHHS 2,000 2,000 2,000 100.00%
IMMUNIZATION ACTION PLAN DHHS 61,868 61,868 61,868 100.00%
LOCAL MCH MDHHS 78,545 78,545 78,545 100.00%
MEDICAID OUTREACH REIMBURSEMENT MDHHS 22,450 22,450 17,011 75.77%
PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS (PHEP) DHHS 127,353 127,353 104,865 82.34%
TUBERCULOSIS (TB) CONTROL DHHS 172 172 172 100.00%
TOTAL FEDERAL FUNDING $ 1,236,000 $ 694,855 649,372 93.45%
STATE FUNDING
BEACH MONITORING EGLE 8,200 8,200 - 0.00%
BODY ART INSPECTIONS EGLE 1,000 1,000 1,314 131.40%
CAMPGROUND PROGRAM EGLE 5,500 5,500 2,800 50.91%
LHD EMERGING HEALTH THREATS READINESS & RESPONSE MDHHS 74,480 74,480 100.00%
CHILDREN'S SPECIAL HEALTH CARE OUTREACH & ADVOCACY DHHS 100,821 100,821 100,821 100.00%
DRINKING WATER LONG-TERM MONITORING PROGRAM EGLE 3,800 3,800 - 0.00%
EGLE DRINKING WATER & ONSITE WASTEWATER MANAGEMENT MDHHS 725,204 725,204 725,204 100.00%
ESSENTIAL LOCAL PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES MDHHS 466,559 466,559 466,559 100.00%
FOOD ELPHS MDHHS 198,822 198,822 198,822 100.00%
HEARING ELPHS MDHHS 46,009 46,009 87,278 189.70%
HIV PREVENTION MDHHS 38,000 38,000 38,000 100.00%
IMMUNIZATION VACCINE QUALITY ASSURANCE MDHHS 16,895 16,895 16,895 100.00%
LEAD CASE MANAGEMENT MDHHS 2,500 2,500 - 0.00%
LOCAL COMMUNITY STABILITZATION AUTHORITY MDHHS 192,942 192,942 192,942 100.00%
NON-COMMUNITY WATER SUPPLY PROGRAM EGLE 231,974 231,974 157,983 68.10%
ORAL HEALTH - KINDERGARTEN ASSESSMENT MDHHS 182,386 182,386 160,783 88.16%
SEAL! MICHIGAN DENTAL SEALANT DHHS 50,000 50,000 59,000 118.00%
PFAS RESPONSE VAN BUREN DUWEL ETLHD 16,108 9,396 10,518 111.94%
PUBLIC SWIMMING POOL PROGRAM EGLE 8,475 8,475 4,238 50.00%
SEPTIC HAULERS PROGRAM EGLE 2,800 2,800 1,880 67.14%
VECTOR BORNE SURVEILLANCE PROGRAM MDHHS 18,000 18,000 18,000 100.00%
VFC SITE VISITS MDHHS - - -
DIS WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT CAMPAIGN MDHHS 35,000 35,000 35,000 100.00%
VISION ELPHS MDHHS 46,009 46,009 87,278 189.70%
TOTAL STATE FUNDING $ 2,397,004 $ 2,464,772 2,439,794 98.99%
NON-PROFIT FUNDING
EAT WELL BE WELL UNITED WAY 45,500 45,500 41,879 92.04%
NACCHO NACCHO - 24,882 24,882 100.00%
MALPH WELLNESS GRANT 4,000
VAN BUREN CAN VBC CAN 5,000 5,000 2,500 50.00%
TOTAL NON-PROFIT FUNDING $ 50,500 $ 75,382 73,261
LICENSES & PERMITS
SEPTIC TANK PERMITS VBCASSDHD 140,000 140,000 167,181 119.42%
BURIAL PERMIT VBCASSDHD - - 40
WELL PERMIT FEES VBCASSDHD 165,000 165,000 185,425 112.38%
TOTAL LICENSES & PERMITS $ 305,000 $ 305,000 352,646

PAGE 1



VAN BUREN CASS DISTRICT HEALTH DEPT
REVENUE/EXPENSE REPORT

2 YEAR TO DATE AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 (UNAUDITED)
VBCDHD
ADOPTED % OF
FUNDING BUDGET AMENDED YTD BUDGET
FUNDING DESCRIPTION SOURCE AMOUNT BUDGET REVENUES  RECEIVED
CHARGES FOR SERVICES
HOME LOANS VBCASSDHD 7,500 7,500 7,300 97.33%
SOIL EVALUATIONS VBCASSDHD 10,000 10,000 1,075 10.75%
SWIMMING POOL INSPECTIONS VBCASSDHD 7,500 7,500 7,125 95.00%
FOSTER HOME & DAYCARE INSPECTIONS VBCASSDHD 13,000 13,000 14,850 114.23%
WATER SAMPLING FEE VBCASSDHD - - -
RADON/LEAD TESTS VBCASSDHD 200 200 30 15.00%
BODY ART INSPECTIONS VBCASSDHD 928
CAMPGROUND INSPECTION FEES VBCASSDHD 12,000 12,000 9,316 77.63%
FOOD INSPECTION/LICENSE FEES VBCASSDHD 160,000 160,000 154,939 96.84%
FOOD PLAN REVIEW VBCASSDHD 5,000 5,000 16,500 330.00%
COPY FEES VBCASSDHD 4,000 4,000 4,642 116.05%
IMMUNIZATION SERVICES VBCASSDHD 60,000 60,000 46,034 76.72%
DENTAL SERVICES VBCASSDHD 1,800,000 1,800,000 2,205,085 122.50%
DENTAL OUTREACH VBCASSDHD 111,097
STD'S SERVICES VBCASSDHD 15,000 15,000 2,915 19.43%
HEARING/VISION SERVICES VBCASSDHD 25,000 25,000 14,727 58.91%
TOTAL CHARGES FOR SERVICES $ 2,119,200 $ 2,119,200 2,596,563
CONTRIBUTIONS FROM LOCAL UNITS
APPROPRIATIONS - GENERAL VAN BUREN CO 494,425 432,007 432,007 100.00%
APPROPRIATIONS - LAWRENCE BUILDING SPACE VAN BUREN CO 75,000 75,000 75,000 100.00%
APPROPRIATIONS - VETERAN'S REIMB DENTAL VAN BUREN CO 50,000 50,000 54,091 108.18%
APPROPRIATIONS - GENERAL CASS CO 293,545 293,545 220,158 75.00%
APPROPRIATIONS - VETERAN'S REIMB DENTAL CASS CO 18,000 18,000 1,896 10.53%
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS FROM LOCAL UNITS $ 930,970 $ 868,552 783,152
INVESTMENT INCOME
INTEREST 50,000 50,000 55,102 110.20%
TOTAL INVESTMENT INCOME  VBCASSDHD $ 50,000 $ 50,000 55,102
OTHER REVENUE
INSURANCE PREMIUM REFUNDS 9,456
MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 1,000 1,000 744 74.41%
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE  VBCASSDHD 1,000 1,000 10,200

TOTALREVENUES $ 7,089,674 $ 6,578,761 6,960,090 105.80%

FUND BALANCE APPROPRIATION 165,236 -
TOTAL REVENUES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024 -2025 $ 7,089,674 $ 6,743,997 6,960,090 103.20%

PAGE 2



‘ VAN BUREN CASS DISTRICT HEALTH DEPT
‘ REVENUE/EXPENSE REPORT
YEAR TO DATE AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 (UNAUDITED)

"%

VBCDHD
ADOPTED AMENDED % OF BUDGET
EXPENSE DESCRIPTION BUDGET BUDGET YTD EXPENSES  EXPENDED
PERSONNEL COSTS

7001 SALARIES & WAGES 4,241,050 4,056,740 3,917,945 111.98%

7005 PRODUCTION PAY - 473,592

7006 PTO PAYOUT - 151,127
7010 SALARIES & WAGES OVERTIME 10,000 10,000 10,866 108.66%
7101 FICA 325,205 311,105 317,523 102.06%
7102 HEALTH INSURANCE 743,864 600,763 601,107 100.06%
7112 DENTAL INSURANCE 27,800 25,423 28,518 112.17%
7105 VISION INSURANCE 6,500 5,940 5,821 97.99%
7106 LIFE INSURANCE 6,135 5,740 6,780 118.11%
7107 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION - ER 210,800 201,585 131,439 65.20%
7108 WORKMAN'S COMPENSATION 30,000 29,450 31,975 108.57%
7110 HEALTH INSURANCE OPT OUT 32,400 32,400 42,300 130.56%
7111 SHORT TERM DISABILITY 27,170 26,000 24,067 92.57%
TOTAL PERSONNEL BUDGET $ 5,660,924 $ 5,305,146 5,743,059 108.25%

OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE

7201 GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 35,000 35,000 16,679 47.66%
7202 SUBSCRIPTIONS & PUBLICATIONS 8,500 8,500 8,428 99.16%
7203 UNIFORMS & ACCESSORIES 5,000 5,000 1,457 29.14%
7204 COMPUTER SUPPLIES 2,500 2,500 3,256 130.23%
7205 COMPUTER SOFTWARE/MAINT FEES 100,000 100,000 98,591 98.59%
7206 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 10,000 10,000 11,983 119.83%
7207 MEDICAL SUPPLIES 5,000 5,000 7,094 141.87%
7208 NON CAPITAL EQUIPMENT & FURNITURE 30,000 7,500 4,274 56.99%

7209 IMMUNIZATION VACCINES 40,698
7210 OPERATING SUPPLIES 5,000 5,500 6,805 123.73%
7211 PROMOTIONAL SUPPLIES 5,000 5,000 5,361 107.21%
7220 DENTAL SUPPLIES 175,000 175,000 172,493 98.57%

7240 MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES 796
7245 FUEL CHARGES 10,000 7,500 6,739 89.85%
7301 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 75,000 75,000 56,644 75.53%
7302 MEALS 1,750 1,750 3,172 181.23%
7303 LODGING 5,000 5,000 4,883 97.67%
7304 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT - CONFERENCES 7,500 7,500 3,344 44.59%
7305 PARKING FEES 1,000 500 77 15.40%
7306 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT - TRAINING & SEMINARS 20,000 10,000 11,031 110.31%
7308 TRANSPORTATION - AIRFARE/CAR/TRAIN 5,000 5,000 - 0.00%
7320 BOARD OF HEALTH - MILEAGE 500 1,100 1,237 112.47%
7401 UTILITIES - TELEPHONE 25,000 25,000 28,386 113.54%
7402 UTILITIES - CABLE/INTERNET 5,000 12,500 17,290 138.32%
7403 POSTAGE 15,000 15,000 19,342 128.95%
7501 ELECTRICITY 25,000 25,000 32,302 129.21%
7502 UTILITIES GAS 8,000 9,500 11,332 119.28%
7503 UTILITIES - WASTE/RECYCLE 10,000 10,000 9,983 99.83%
7504 UTILITIES - WATER/SEWER 5,000 3,500 2,975 85.00%
7520 BUILDING RENTAL 345,000 345,000 315,611 91.48%
7540 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 9,000 11,000 14,158 128.71%

PAGE 3



n'é-

VAN BUREN CASS DISTRICT HEALTH DEPT

REVENUE/EXPENSE REPORT

YEAR TO DATE AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 (UNAUDITED)

VBCDHD
ADOPTED AMENDED % OF BUDGET
EXPENSE DESCRIPTION BUDGET BUDGET YTD EXPENSES  EXPENDED
7600 CONSULTANTS - MEDIA 5,000 15,000 15,976 106.51%
7601 CONSULTANT FEES 10,000 30,000 49,812 166.04%
7602 LEGAL FEES 5,000 5,000 7,176 143.52%
7603 AUDITING FEES 20,000 16,000 16,000 100.00%
7604 COMPUTER CONSULTANTS 5,000 5,000 4,750 95.00%
7606 LABORATORY SERVICES 200,000 200,000 182,183 91.09%
7608 SPECIAL NEEDS ASSISTANCE 500 500 213 42.56%
7610 PROFESSIONAL LICENSES FEES 5,000 5,000 2,768 55.35%
7611 MEMBERSHIP DUES 6,000 9,000 10,103 112.26%
7612 ADVERTISING 40,000 40,000 18,044 45.11%
7613 PRINTING 5,000 5,000 3,581 71.62%
7615 FOOD LICENSE SURCHARGE 15,000 15,000 13,385 89.23%
7616 PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT 500 - -

7620 BOARD OF HEALTH - PER DIEM 3,500 3,500 2,778 79.38%
7630 PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 8,500 8,500 9,724 114.40%
7631 PROPERTY LIABILITY INSURANCE 50,000 50,000 24,762 49.52%
7640 OFFICE EQUIPMENT RENTAL 5,000 10,000 18,726 187.26%
7650 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 10,000 10,000 11,728 117.28%
7651 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 10,000 10,000 7,665 76.65%
7655 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT 50,000 50,000 46,100 92.20%
7656 COMPUTER EQUIPMENT 15,000 15,000 8,595 57.30%
7670 BANK CHARGES 1,000 2,500 3,897 155.88%

7671 CREDIT CARD FEES 170
7673 OTHER FEES 5,000 5,000 6,228 124.57%
TOTAL OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE BUDGET $ 1,428,750 $ 1,438,850 $ 1,380,783 95.96%
TOTAL ANNUAL BUDGET - 2024-2025 $ 7,089,674 $ 6,743,996 $ 7,123,842 105.63%

PAGE 4



STATE OF MICHIGAN

GRETCHEN WHITMER DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES ELIZABETH HERTEL
GOVERNOR LANSING DIRECTOR

September 12, 2025

Danielle Persky, Health Officer

Van Buren-Cass County District Health Department
260 South Street

Lawrence, Michigan 49064

Dear Danielle Persky:

This is a preliminary analysis to our audit of programs funded by the Michigan Department of Health and
Human Services, Division of Immunization and administered by Van Buren-Cass County District Health
Department for the original period July 1, 2021, through September 30, 2022; and expanded period
October 1, 2020, through September 30, 2022.

We request that you send us a formal response for the exception and recommendation. For the exception,
use the Corrective Action Plan Form attached to the transmittal email. Include your statement of
agreement or disagreement, any comments, your planned corrective action, the person responsible for
implementation, and your anticipated completion date. We intend to include your responses in our final
audit report, where applicable. You should submit your formal response to us by October 13, 2025, to be
included in our final audit report.

The preliminary analysis is a working document and does not constitute a final determination of policy or
action by this Department. The preliminary analysis should only be disclosed to individuals deemed
necessary by your agency. Public agencies in receipt of the Preliminary Analysis should consult with their
FOIA coordinators as to whether public disclosure is appropriate.

If you have any questions, please contact me at 517-241-0112 or WootonB@michigan.gov.

Please email your response to me at WootonB@michigan.gov.

Thank you for the cooperation extended throughout the audit process.

Sincerely,

WA- Whslare

Bryce Wooton
Audit Division Director

c. Cindy Keller, MDHHS, Audit
Nancy Desai, Van Buren-Cass County District Health Department

235 SOUTH GRAND AVENUE e PO BOX 30037 e LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909
www.michigan.gov/mdhhs e 517-241-3740


http://www.michigan.gov/

10/01/2020 — 09/30/2022 Van Buren-Cass County
District Health Department

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Below is a summary of the exceptions and the Health Department’s corrective action plan.

Exception 1 Insufficient Control Over Financial Management
Page 2
Criteria Title 2 CFR 200.302(a)

Title 2 CFR 200.302(b)(2)
MDHHS Grant Agreement
Amount to be Returned $88,214
Corrective Action Pending response.
Completion Date Pending response.
Responsible Individual(s) Pending response.


dpersky
Highlight

dpersky
Highlight


Exception 1
Insufficient Control Over Financial Management

Condition
The Health Department did not have a sufficient financial management system to
accurately record and report its program funds received and expended.

Criteria

Title 2 CFR 200.302(a) states the non-Federal entity’s financial management system
must be sufficient to permit the tracing of funds to a level of expenditures adequate to
establish that such funds have been used according to Federal statutes, regulations, and
the terms and conditions of the federal award.

Title 2 CFR 200.302(b)(2) states the financial management system of each non-Federal
entity must provide for the following:

(1) Identification in its accounts of all Federal awards received and expended and the
Federal programs under which they were received.

(2) Accurate, current, and complete disclosure of the financial results of each Federal
award or program.

(3) Records that sufficiently identify the amount, source, and expenditure of Federal funds
for Federal awards. These records must contain information necessary to identify
Federal awards, authorizations, financial obligations, unobligated balances, assets,
expenditures, income, and interest; and be supported by source documentation.

(4) Effective control over and accountability for all funds, property, and assets. The
subrecipient must safeguard all assets and assure they are used solely for authorized
purposes.

(5) Comparison of expenditures with budget amounts for each Federal award.

MDHHS Grant Agreement, Part I1.1.C states the Grantee must use an accounting system
that can account for the funds received from each separate grant, regardless of funding
source, and assure that grand funds are not commingled.

Exception
During our review, we noted the Health Department had numerous insufficient controls

over its financial management system resulting in unreliable accounting records,
unallowable expenses, and non-compliance with Federal regulations. As a result, the
audit scope was expanded to include the entirety of FY2021 for all programs under review
and the testing methodology was adjusted accordingly.

The Health Department’s insufficient control over its financial management led to the
following issues:



e Commingled accounting records for the COVID Immunization, COVID
Immunization MI Supplemental, Immunization Fixed Fee, and Immunization
Vaccine Quality Assurance grants.

e FSRs were not supported by accounting records for any of the programs under
review.

We noted the following when we reconciled the COVID Immunization, COVID
Immunization Ml Supplemental, Immunization Fixed Fee, and Immunization Vaccine
Quality Assurance Program’s FSR expense categories to the related commingled
accounting records, resulting in a $57,464 overstatement of total expenses on their
FY2021 Final FSRs:

e Salaries and Wages were underreported by $18,303
Fringe Benefits were underreported by $10,128
Travel was underreported by $181
Supplies and Materials were overreported by $1,156
Communication was overreported by $140
Space Costs were overreported by $27
Other Expenses were overreported by $71,585
Cost Allocation Plan / Other was overreported by $13,168

We noted the following when we reconciled the COVID Immunization, COVID
Immunization Ml Supplemental, Immunization Fixed Fee, and Immunization Vaccine
Quality Assurance Program’s FSR expense categories to the related commingled
accounting records, resulting in a $80,245 understatement of total expenses on their
FY2022 Final FSRs:

e Salaries and Wages were underreported by $10,249
Fringe Benefits were underreported by $5,020
Supplies and Materials were underreported by $19,777
Space Costs were underreported by $638
Other Expenses were underreported by $58,808
Cost Allocation Plan / Other was overreported by $14,247

We noted the following when we reconciled the Immunization Action Plan Program’s
FSR expense categories to the related accounting records, resulting in a $35,714
overstatement of total expenses on their FY2021 Final FSR:
e Salaries and Wages were overreported by $16,878
Fringe Benefits were overreported by $7,451
Supplies and Materials were overreported by $10,000
Space Costs were overreported by $1,500
Cost Allocation Plan / Other was underreported by $115

We noted the following when we reconciled the Immunization Action Plan Program’s
FSR expense categories to the related accounting records, resulting in a $52,500
overstatement of total expenses on their FY2022 Final FSR:




Salaries and Wages were overreported by $10,000
Fringe Benefits were overreported by $5,000

Supplies and Materials were overreported by $13,000
Space Costs were overreported by $2,000

Cost Allocation Plan / Other was overreported by $22,500

The Health Department did not have sufficient controls in place to ensure that accounting
records were accurate and reconciled to its FSRs.

No adjustments are shown on the Statements of Audited Grant Revenues and Expenses,
and no funds are requested back for the COVID Immunization, COVID Immunization Ml
Supplemental, Immunization Fixed Fee, and Immunization Vaccine Quality Assurance
Program’s due to the commingled accounting records and the inability to differentiate the
amount of funds due back per program.

Adjustments are shown on the Statements of Audited Grant Revenues and Expenses for
the Immunization Action Plan Programs. Funds are requested back to MDHHS for the
overstatement of expenses on the FY2021 and FY2022 Final FSRs.

Recommendation

We recommend the Health Department implement sufficient controls and procedures to
ensure its FSRs are supported and reconcile with accounting records to ensure
compliance with Federal regulations and the terms of the MDHHS agreement.

Health Department Response and Corrective Action Plan

The Health Department has implemented a new chart of accounts that can easily identify
grant costs to the appropriate grant. The new chart of accounts includes a funding source
number for each grant type, and all revenue and expenses are recorded with a funding
source number so they can be easily identified. The Statement of Revenues & Expenses
will be run by funding source, and therefore accurately depict the grant status at any given
point in time. In addition, an account detail report is available to provide detail expenses
by general ledger account number. The account detail report provides several filtering
criteria such as funding source, general ledger account number, and other items to
provide detail for expenditures.

Completion Date
10/01/2023

Responsible Individual(s) [Name and Title]
Nancy Desai, Director of Finance



O
M

Van Buren/Cass District
Health Department

MONTHLY REPORT
October 2025

Hours of Operation:
Monday - Thursday 8am - 5pm
Friday 8am - 2pm

Cass County
Immunizations
Ist & 3rd Wednesdays

STl Testing & Treatment
Thursdays

Dental
Monday - Friday

Van Buren County
Immunizations
Thursdays

STl testing & treatment
Wednesdays

Dental
Monday - Friday

Newsworthy
Visit vbcassdhd.org/news

West Nile Virus Detected
in Cass County Bird —
What You Need to Know

Sea Lamprey Control
Planned for Paw Paw
River

vbcassdhd.org - (269) 621-3143

Medical Director and Nursing

In September, health department nursing staff actively engaged in a
variety of educational and professional development opportunities.
The team participated in an annual influenza webinar to stay current
on prevention strategies and communicable disease nurses attended
a virtual series focused on hospital-acquired infections and infection
prevention, with insights tailored to long-term care and assisted living
facilities. Additionally, the department welcomed a nursing student
from Western Michigan University to shadow the health department
nursing team. Over five days, the students gained 40 hours of valuable
hands-on experience in public health nursing.

Cass County recently confirmed its first positive case of West Nile Virus
in a blue heron that had been struck by a vehicle. The health
department has issued a public press release? with details and
prevention tips. Arbovirus activity, including West Nile Virus and
Eastern Equine Encephalitis, continues to be monitored across the
state?. Additionally, several schools and daycares have reported small
outbreaks of Hand, Foot, and Mouth Disease (HFMD). Informational
materials3 have been distributed to facilities and healthcare providers.

The Health Department reports that fifteen individuals within our
district received Post-Exposure Prophylaxis for rabies following
potential exposure to a bat. In each case, the bat was either
unavailable or not suitable for testing. As of early October, 37 bats have
tested positive for rabies in Michigan in 2025. Local county data
includes Allegan County with two cases, Berrien County with one, and
Kalamazoo County with three. Van Buren and Cass Counties have not
reported any rabies-positive animals to date. For the latest statewide
data, visit the 2025 Rabies Positive Animals in Michigan report=.

Environmental Health
e 75 septic permits

45 septic final inspections

o 77 well permits 42 well final inspections

e 66 restaurant inspections 10 restaurant reinspections

¢ 19 temporary food inspections e 18 swimming pool inspections

1 https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/

2 https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Weekly_
Arbovirus_Summary.pdf?rev=a42c5ee32bbf4e80983102593114ea77

3 https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Folderl/CD_Info/A-Z/HFMD-Fact-
Sheet.pdf?rev=89a4cbe29b4a43e4963e834€98b460bb&hash=C03F1264DD54E4A179B91560F8A10DE4

4 https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Current
MI_Rabies_Map.pdf?rev=b9fa7637e15b46d9a99f3ffSb26ea5b9&hash=B018A7E2963EAB520C71D434C25B82289

October 2025 - Pagelof2


http://www.vbcassdhd.org/news
http://vbcassdhd.org/
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://youtu.be/AHRzsBayxzI?si=aQjPqFf22j6ajAL7
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Weekly_Arbovirus_Summary.pdf?rev=a42c5ee32bbf4e80983102593114ea77
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Weekly_Arbovirus_Summary.pdf?rev=a42c5ee32bbf4e80983102593114ea77
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Weekly_Arbovirus_Summary.pdf?rev=a42c5ee32bbf4e80983102593114ea77
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Folder1/CD_Info/A-Z/HFMD-Fact-Sheet.pdf?rev=89a4cbe29b4a43e4963e834e98b460bb&hash=C03F1264DD54E4A179B91560F8A10DE4
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Folder1/CD_Info/A-Z/HFMD-Fact-Sheet.pdf?rev=89a4cbe29b4a43e4963e834e98b460bb&hash=C03F1264DD54E4A179B91560F8A10DE4
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Folder1/CD_Info/A-Z/HFMD-Fact-Sheet.pdf?rev=89a4cbe29b4a43e4963e834e98b460bb&hash=C03F1264DD54E4A179B91560F8A10DE4
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Current_MI_Rabies_Map.pdf?rev=b9fa7637e15b46d9a99f3ff5b26ea5b9&hash=B018A7E2963EAB520C71D434C25B2289
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Current_MI_Rabies_Map.pdf?rev=b9fa7637e15b46d9a99f3ff5b26ea5b9&hash=B018A7E2963EAB520C71D434C25B2289
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Weekly_Arbovirus_Summary.pdf?rev=a42c5ee32bbf4e80983102593114ea77
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Weekly_Arbovirus_Summary.pdf?rev=a42c5ee32bbf4e80983102593114ea77
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Folder1/CD_Info/A-Z/HFMD-Fact-Sheet.pdf?rev=89a4cbe29b4a43e4963e834e98b460bb&hash=C03F1264DD54E4A179B91560F8A10DE4
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Folder1/CD_Info/A-Z/HFMD-Fact-Sheet.pdf?rev=89a4cbe29b4a43e4963e834e98b460bb&hash=C03F1264DD54E4A179B91560F8A10DE4
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Current_MI_Rabies_Map.pdf?rev=b9fa7637e15b46d9a99f3ff5b26ea5b9&hash=B018A7E2963EAB520C71D434C25B2289
https://www.michigan.gov/emergingdiseases/-/media/Project/Websites/emergingdiseases/Folder3/Current_MI_Rabies_Map.pdf?rev=b9fa7637e15b46d9a99f3ff5b26ea5b9&hash=B018A7E2963EAB520C71D434C25B2289
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://vbcassdhd.org/sea-lamprey-control-planned-for-paw-paw-river/
https://vbcassdhd.org/sea-lamprey-control-planned-for-paw-paw-river/
https://vbcassdhd.org/sea-lamprey-control-planned-for-paw-paw-river/

O
M

MONTHLY REPORT
October 2025

Van Buren/Cass District
Health Department

Hours of Operation:
Monday - Thursday 8am - 5pm
Friday 8am - 2pm

Cass County
Immunizations
Ist & 3rd Wednesdays

STl testing & treatment
Thursdays

Dental
Monday - Friday

Van Buren County
Immunizations
Thursdays

STl testing & treatment
Wednesdays

Dental
Monday - Friday

Newsworthy
Visit vbcassdhd.org/news

West Nile Virus Detected
in Cass County Bird —
What You Need to Know

Sea Lamprey Control
Planned for Paw Paw
River

vbcassdhd.org - (269) 621-3143

Health Promotions

Staff participated in a mandatory Standard Response Protocol
Training, gaining essential knowledge on how to respond to
emergencies such as severe weather or active threats. Our Health
Promotion team was active in the community, attending the Cass
Family Expo and the Cass Council on Aging Health Fair, where they
provided educational resources, flu and COVID-19 vaccines, and
giveaways to local residents.

In support of overdose prevention, a new Narcan distribution
machine has been installed in the Dowagiac office and staff also
took part in the Southwest Michigan Opioid Summit. Cass and Van
Buren County seniors received a boost to their nutrition benefits
with an additional $25 added to their Senior Project Fresh cards. On
social media, the health department is promoting Dental Awareness
Month and Breast Cancer Awareness Month to raise awareness and
encourage preventive care.

Dental Clinic and Outreach

In September, the Dowagiac clinic welcomed 23 new patients and
served 398 individuals, while Lawrence saw 65 new patients and cared
for 542 individuals. Looking back at a very unusual year, the dental
team showed adaptability and patience with staff changes, extended
leaves of absence, and outside forces affecting everyone in public
health. Through it all, staff have always kept their core values as a
guiding star and continued to provide excellent and compassionate
care to patients. Between the two clinics this year, we have been able
to provide over 4000 dental exams and cleanings, over 200 arches of
dentures, and over 7000 fillings and crowns. This care was all provided
at low cost and the highest standards of care.

The dental outreach team was busy providing care directly to children
in the community though the SEAL! program and Kindergarten Oral
Health Assessments (KOHA), all at no cost to the patient.

SEAL! Oct. 2024 - Sept. 2025
VB/Cass

KOHA Oct. 2024 - Sept. 2025
VB/Cass and Berrien

e Number of schools: 82

e Number of assessments
(combined): 3072

e Referral for Urgent Care Tx: 97

* Number of schools: 32

e Number of Cleanings: 800

* Number of Sealants placed: 2279

e Number of Students that received
oral health education: 9130

October 2025 - Page2of 2


http://vbcassdhd.org/
http://www.vbcassdhd.org/news
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://vbcassdhd.org/west-nile-virus-detected-in-cass-county-bird-what-you-need-to-know/
https://vbcassdhd.org/sea-lamprey-control-planned-for-paw-paw-river/
https://vbcassdhd.org/sea-lamprey-control-planned-for-paw-paw-river/
https://vbcassdhd.org/sea-lamprey-control-planned-for-paw-paw-river/

Proposal for Reduced Workweek Pilot m

Amid ongoing changes and uncertainty, our leadership team has been actively

exploring ways to strengthen our workplace culture, improve employee satisfaction,

and enhance productivity. Over the past four years, we’ve made significant strides

introducing wellness activities, improving internal communication, reviewing salary structures, and
encouraging time off. Despite these efforts and more, employee burnout and low morale remain
persistent challenges. What we hoped would subside post-pandemic has instead become a daily
reality. We understand this is not unique to the health department and our workforce, but we are
unaccepting of this new “normal.”

Research and Rationale

In response, our leadership team has conducted extensive research into alternative workweek
models, including studies on the reduced work week. Answering questions such as’:

e Should we work four eight-hour days, a staggered schedule or reduced hours on five days?

e Which days or hours should we take off?

e How can we keep the change from negatively impacting our clients, community, and other
stakeholders?

o What steps can we take to increase our productivity and accountability?

e How will we measure the impact?

o What support will employees need to make this pilot a success?

e How long should we run the pilot?

e Arethere any legal concerns we should be aware of?

We’ve weighed the pros and cons, assessed community impact, and evaluated cost-benefit
scenarios. Our conclusion: a reduced workweek has the potential to significantly improve
employee satisfaction, reduce burnout, sustain our workforce, reduce and streamline overhead
costs, and enhance focus and workflow —while maintaining or even improving service to the
community.

Among multiple research trials we reviewed, the findings continually show no productivity loss
associated with four-day work week pilot programs with some companies reporting significant
improvements.

Psychological research? suggests that most of us are “medium maximizers”; we tend to focus on
objective, easily quantifiable success metrics such as hours worked, rather than qualitative

TWhillans, A., & Lockhart, C. (2021, September 28). A Guide to Implementing the 4-Day workweek. Harvard
Business Review. Retrieved October 1, 2025, from https://hbr.org/2021/09/a-guide-to-implementing-the-4-
day-workweek

2Yes! Maximizers Maximize Almost Everything: The Decision-Making Style Is Consistent in Different Decision
Domains - PMC

Page10of 3


https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8335592/
https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8335592/

metrics such as productivity or well-being. As a result, many organizations use immediate
responsiveness and time at the office as proxies for employees’ commitment levels, even when
those measures seldom correspond to actual value added to the organization.®

Anticipated Concerns and Mitigation

We recognize that change can bring concern. One anticipated concern is public access on Fridays.
To address this, we’ve been tracking Friday traffic —in person and via phone & email — and will
present those findings in November. Initial data suggests minimal disruption to public services. As
public health practitioners and emergency responders, our team already functions within a flexible
as-needed framework. Itis common practice for our team members to work outside of standard
business hours. They respond to emerging threats, conduct inspections, and participate in
community events in the evenings and on Saturdays and Sundays as needed. Public health
responsiveness is a core tenant of our organization, and this will not change.

Proposed Pilot
4-Day, 36-Hour Workweek

e Monday-Thursday: 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m.

o Friday: Closed to the public

e Staff may work on Fridays for make-up/flex time or emerging threats

o Employee annual wage remains the same

e PTO accruals will be prorated to reduced hours worked

o All staff are expected to work in-office Monday-Thursday. Remote work will only be
available on an as-needed basis.

e Allemployees must work 36 hours/week or part-time, no benefits at 29 hours a week

o Pilot Period: 12 months. January 2, 2026 — January 31, 2027. Review findings at January
2027 Board of Heath Meeting.

Plan-Do-Study-Act

A systematic, iterative method used for continuous improvement in processes. A standard review
method for public health initiatives. Our team will be using the evaluation process, collecting and
analyzing data during the pilot period. Based on the findings from the study phase, together we’ll
decide whether to adopt the change, modify it, or abandon it.

3 A Guide to Implementing the 4-Day Workweek

Page 2 of 3



https://hbr.org/2021/09/a-guide-to-implementing-the-4-day-workweek

Why We're the Best Suited for This Pilot

In a time where we have limited control over the external factors impacting our work, we must
identify what is within our control and hold ourselves accountable and responsible to public
health, including a commitment to supporting our employees and their health and well-being.

Southwest Michigan is well known for its innovation — whether that’s being on the cutting edge of
incorporating Al into the government workplace, investing in economic development (Market One),
piloting new programs between community organizations and hospitals like the Area Agency on
Aging, earning awards for innovation like Flowers Early Learning (Tri-County Head Start), advancing
new ideas to build community connection and trust like our organization in partnership with the
National Association of County & City Health Officials, developing a shared space and education
opportunities between a tech school and public health department, or our latest effort to create a
community-shared and invested data hub — Southwest Michigan and our public health department,
pride ourselves on not being afraid to take risks or dip our toes into the water of new. As public
health practitioners, we are trained to evaluate the impact of initiatives. Using theories to guide us
and quality improvement methodologies to assess our effectiveness, we are the right local
organization to lead the way in strategically planning, implementing and studying the impact of a 4-
day workweek.

Next Steps

In November, we’ll present a detailed timeline, additional research - including Friday traffic data,
our evaluation plan and request a formal decision. The leadership team at VBCDHD strongly
believes this pilot is a strategic step forward for our department and our community.

Additional research insight used*

4 Ashton, J. R. (2019). The public health case for the four-day working week. Journal of the Royal Society of
Medicine, 112(2), 81-82. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076819826782

5Rae, C. L. (2025). How can a 4-day working week increase wellbeing at no cost to performance? Trends in
Cognitive Sciences, 29(1), 5-7.

Page 30of 3



.
T

PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Van Buren/Cass District
Health Department www.vbcassdhd.org 800.210.1921

BOARD OF HEALTH - MEMO

TO: Board of Health

FROM: Danielle Persky, Health Officer

DATE: October 8, 2025

SUBJECT: Update on the Dental Ad-Hoc Committee

DENTAL AD-HOC COMMITTEE MEMBERS: BOH Chair, Van Buren County Commissioner Tina Leary; Cass
County Commissioner Roseann Marchetti; Ms. Priscilla Gatties

On Wednesday, September 10, Ad-Hoc Committee Members met to review Strategies to Reduce the

Dental Budget Deficit (enclosed). During the meeting committee members reviewed public health law,
current and proposed budgets, production and projection reports, dental fees, staffing and the
landscape of dental providers. After reviewing the supporting documentation, members discussed
three strategies identified and outlined by the Health Department’s leadership team (Dental Director,
Finance Director, Health Officer). The resulting decision was to embark on Scenario 1, selling our
Dowagiac Dental Clinic to Cass Family Clinic Network.

On Friday, September 19, Health Department’s leadership team, along with Ms. Gatties met with Cass

Family Clinic dental leadership team at their office to confirm CFCN’s interest in acquiring our clinic,
answering preliminary questions, and collectively identifying what it would take from both of us to have
a successful deal.

On Tuesday, September 23, Dr. Malsbary and | met with all dental staff to communicate the

arrangement we are embarking on and followed up with an organization-wide email memo.

On Thursday, September 25, | sent a Letter of Intent (enclosed) to Joe Gavan, CEO, Cass Family Clinic,

outlining preliminary details and intention of sale. Initial response identified concerns about the length
of the lease and seeking more information on the purchase price. Mr. Gavan received authorization
from his board to spend the next 30 days in a due diligence process.

On Friday, September 26, Dr. Malsbary and | met with representatives from AVB and Tower Pinkster to

discuss the desire to expand our Lawrence clinic by at least 2 more operatories. Proposals from both
companies have been provided. We will revisit these, bringing them to your attention after a deal is
solidified with CFCN.

On Friday, October 3, Dr. Malsbary and | led the CFCN dental leadership team on a tour of our Dowagiac

dental facility.

Page1o0f2



PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Van Buren/Cass District
Health Department

www.vbcassdhd.org 800.210.1921

Primary focus areas right now:

e Working collaboratively with the Northern Health Foundation (i.e. Van Buren Cass Community
Health Properties) and Foster Swift to determine the path of least resistance for moving into a
sublease agreement with CFCN on our property.

e Working collaboratively with the City of Dowagiac to secure all relevant property lease
documents, negotiating an amended rental agreement for our nurses to reside in the former
Dermatologist office on the first floor of our building.

e Working to sell the City of Dowagiac on a proposition to buy out the remainder of the lease and
assume ownership of the property.

e Provide CFCN with all desired documents for the due diligence process

After a deal is reached we’ll work with CFCN on all logistics — employee recruitment/staffing, patient
records, asset identification, timeline, etc.

Page 2 of 2



Vo & PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Van Buren/Cass District
Health Department www.vbcassdhd.org 269.621.3143

DENTAL AD-HOC COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH — STAFF REPORT

TO: Dental Ad-Hoc Committee of the Board of Health
FROM: Danielle Persky, Health Officer

DATE: September 10, 2025

SUBJECT: Strategies to Reduce the Dental Budget Deficit
BACKGROUND

As you are aware, the Community Dental division has operated at a financial loss for at least the past
five years. Despite increased staffing, higher patient volume, and reduced scheduling delays, the clinic
continues to rely on local appropriation dollars to balance its budget. In light of significant funding cuts
earlier this year and growing uncertainty around future grant support, it is imperative that we pursue
strategies to reduce the clinic’s financial burden on the agency and move toward a self-sustaining
model. Doing so will help ensure the Health Department retains the resources necessary to meet its
mandated responsibilities.

CRITICAL DETAILS

Key Public Health Responsibilities of a Local Governing Entity

e MCL 333.2473 (2): An LHD and its local governing entity shall provide or demonstrate the
provision of each required service which the local health department is designated to provide.

e Although LHDs can elect to carry out other programs and services in response to identified
community health needs or grant opportunities, there are several required services based in
rule or statute. Required service definition is a combination of basic, mandated, and local public
health operations categories. (see matrix, page 84-87)

e MCL 333.2413, the governing body must provide the funds and approve the budget for
operation of the LHD

e MCL 333.2431 (1) (b): Demonstrate ability to provide required services

e MCL 333.2484: Submit annually to the State Health Department a program statement approved
by the local governing entity defining the status of the current required and allowable services
the local health department provides.

Hic ik

Dowagiac 302 S. Front St. Dowagiac, M1 49047 | Lawrence 260 South Street Lawrence, M| 49064


https://accreditation.localhealth.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Public_Health_Guide_Final-Digital-Accessible.pdf

Vo & PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Van Buren/Cass District
Health Department www.vbcassdhd.org 269.621.3143

IN SUMMARY

We must prioritize mandated (required) services in accordance with the MCL before allowable services.
Aside from the Kindergarten Oral Health Assessment program, which is required by law, the community
dental clinic is considered an allowable service.

ENCLOSED

FY26 Proposed Dental Budget & Agency Budget

FY25 Dental Production, Final Projections

FY24-FY25 Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

Dental Fees, Snapshot

Current Dental Staffing Chart

Michigan’s Guide to Public Health for Local Governing Entities, page 84-87
Community Dental Clinic Provider Listing

R
.00
e

“rep,
Hic ik

Dowagiac 302 S. Front St. Dowagiac, M1 49047 | Lawrence 260 South Street Lawrence, M| 49064



PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Van Buren/Cass District

Health Department www.vbcassdhd.org 269.621.3143

STRATEGIES

Scenario 1
e Hand off Dowagiac Dental Clinic to Cass Family Clinic Network
o No longer paying for two sets of administrative support, decrease cost on servers and other utilities
e Remaining Lawrence Dental Clinic moves to 4-day/week model with focused staffing & concentrated hours
o Expand Lawrence clinic: Minor expansion to add 2 more chairs for a total of 10 chairs
o Clinical Hours: Monday -Thursday, 8:15 a.m. - 4:45 p.m. with a 30-minute lunch. (currently 8:30-4:30
with an hour lunch). Recapture the Friday clinical time we by shortening the lunch and increasing the
clinical time by 15 minutes each end of the day.
Staffing: 3 Doctors, 4 hygienists, 6 Dental Assistants, 1 Front Desk, 1 Dental Operations Manager.
Fees: Increase the fees by 10-20% across the board and build in standard fee increases annually.

Scenario 2
e Maintaining two clinics, entire dental operations move to 4-day/week model with concentrated hours
o Clinical Hours: Monday -Thursday, 8:15 a.m. - 4:45 p.m. with a 30-minute lunch. (currently 8:30-4:30
with an hour lunch). Recapture the Friday clinical time we by shortening the lunch and increasing the
clinical time by 15 minutes each end of the day.
Staffing: 5 Doctors, 5 hygienists, 7-8 Dental Assistants, 2-4 Front Desk, 1 Dental Operations Manager.
Fees: Increase the fees by 10-20% across the board and build in standard fee increases annually.

Scenario 3
e Qutright closure of Dowagiac
o Do not give to Cass Family Clinic Network
o Maintain $7,100/month in lease
e Remaining Lawrence Dental Clinic moves to 4-day/week model with focused staffing & concentrated hours
o Expand Lawrence clinic: Minor expansion to add 2 more chairs for a total of 10 chairs
o Clinical Hours: Monday -Thursday, 8:15 a.m. - 4:45 p.m. with a 30-minute lunch. (currently 8:30-4:30
with an hour lunch). Recapture the Friday clinical time we by shortening the lunch and increasing the
clinical time by 15 minutes each end of the day.
Staffing: 3 Doctors, 4 hygienists, 6 Dental Assistants, 1 Front Desk, 1 Dental Operations Manager.
Fees: Increase the fees by 10-20% across the board and build in standard fee increases annually.

Hic ik

Dowagiac 302 S. Front St. Dowagiac, M1 49047 | Lawrence 260 South Street Lawrence, M| 49064



o
Y

Van Buren/Case Dictriet PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATION
Health Department www.vbcassdhd.org 269.621.3143

|

Danielle Persky, Health Officer & Executive Director
Van Buren/Cass District Health Department

302 S. Front St.

Dowagiac, MI 49047

September 25, 2025

Joe Gavan, Chief Executive Officer
Cass Family Clinic Network

261 M-62

Cassopolis, M1 49031

Subject: Letter of Intent for the Sale of DoWagiac Dental Clinic

Dear Mr. Gavan,

This Letter of Intent (“LOI") sets forth the preliminary terms and conditions under which Van Buren/Cass District Health
Department (“Seller”) intends to sell, and Cass Family Clinic Network (“Buyer”) intends to purchase, the Dowagiac Dental

Clinic located at 302 S. Front Street, Dowagiac, Ml 49047.

This LOI is non-binding and is intended solely as a basis for further discussions and the preparation of a definitive

agreement.

1. Parties Involved
Seller: Van Buren/Cass District Health Department

Buyer: Cass Family Clinic Network

2. Description of the Asset
The asset to be sold is the Dowagiac Dental Clinic, including:
a. Dental equipment and furnishings
b. Patient records (subject to HIPAA compliance)
c. Existing service contracts (if transferable)

The asset to be occupied is the 2" floor of the property at 302 S. Front Street, Dowagiac, Ml 49047.




3. Purchase Price
a. The Buyer will purchase the equipment and furnishings at a cost not to exceed $425,000.

b. The Buyer will sublet the property at a rate of $7,100 a month for the duration of the seller’s

lease agreement through 2034.

4. Transition Plan
The Seller and Buyer agree to collaborate on a transition plan that prioritizes:
a. Continuity of care for existing patients
b. Retention of current staff where possible

c. Community communication regarding the change

5. Due Diligence
Buyer shall have a period of 30 days to conduct due diligence, including review of:
a. Financial records
b. Unique patient, visit and procedure count, and patient demographic breakdown
c. License and permits
d. Facility condition

e. Staffing and HR documentation

6. Confidentiality
Both parties agree to maintain confidentiality regarding the-terms-ef-this-tOl-andany proprietary
information exchanged during the process. ///

7. Timeline

Target date for execution of a definitive agreement: November 12, 2025

Target date for closing the transaction: January 1, 2026

8. Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The transaction will be subject to all applicable local, state, and federal laws and regulations, including

public health and Medicaid program requirements.

%.; '4:
% '?\:, iy g

Dowagiac 302 S. Front St. Dowagiac, MI 49047 | Lawrence 260 South St. Lawrence, M| 49064



The transaction will be subject to amendment of the Seller’s standing lease agreement.
9. Non-Binding Nature
This LOIl is not intended to create any binding obligation on either party, except for the confidentiality

provisions in Section 6. A binding agreement will be created only upon execution of a definitive

purchase agreemenﬁ
ws /nﬂn/?ﬂ
///

Sincerely,

{ Dnnuhin Loy )
g il it /%;/y__

Danielle Persky /Jﬁlsep‘%avan
Health Officer & Executive Director Chief Executive Officer
Van Buren/Cass District Health Department Cass Family Clinic Network

Dowagiac 302 S. Front St. Dowagiac, M1 49047 | Lawrence 260 South St. Lawrence, M| 49064



NOTE: Items that do not list Senate, House, or Conference action indicates that chamber agrees
with the Governor's changes. Additionally, items listing a Senate, House or Conference change

agree with the Governor's change unless otherwise indicated.

CHANGES FROM

= FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26
f Department of Health and Human Services YEAR-TO-DATE
S % YTD (as of 2/05/25) GOVERNOR SENATE HOUSE CONFERENCE GOVERNOR SENATE HOUSE CONFERENCE
185 MI Health Link D-SNP Placeholder Gross 100 100 100 100 100 0 0 0 0
GF/GP 100 100 100 100 100 0 0 0 0
Governor: Transfers $100 Gross and GF/GP from Long-Term Care line to the
Integrated Care Organization line.
Senate: The Senate concurred.
House: The House did not include this transfer.
Conference: The Conference concurred.
186 Dental Safety Net Payments Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 4,000,000 0 0
GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 4,000,000 0 0
Senate: The Senate included funding to implement an enhanced Medicaid rate
for services provided by dental safety net providers.
House: The House did not include this funding.
Conference: The Conference moved this item to one-time. See Item 218.
187 Federal Qualified Health Centers Training Program Gross 0 0 2,000,000 0 0 0 2,000,000 0 0
GF/GP 0 0 2,000,000 0 0 0 2,000,000 0 0
Senate: The Senate included funding to support the FQHC's Health Centers
Career Training Program to provide recruitment and training opportunities for
individuals employed by FQHCs.
House: The House did not include this funding.
Conference: The Conference moved this item to one-time. See Item 218.
188 Nursing Home Current Asset Value Limit Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 4,862,600 0 0
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 3,151,000 0 0
Senate: The Senate included funding to step-up the current asset value for GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 1,711,600 0 0
skilled nursing facilities in Michigan. The increase in the rate base value is intended
to capture recent increases in construction costs.
House: The House did not include this funding.
Conference: The Conference did not include this funding.
189 Ventilator Dependent Care Units Medicaid Rate Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 14,100,000 0 0
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 9,136,800 0 0
Senate: The Senate included funding to provide ventilator care in the walls GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 4,963,200 0 0
of a skilled nursing facility to avoid placement in a long-term acute care hospital.
The rates paid to nursing facilities is 80% of the hospital rate.
House: The House did not include this funding.
Conference: The Conference did not include this funding.
190 MiChoice Risk Pool Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 14,400,000 0 0
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 9,400,000 0 0
Senate: The Senate included funding to create a risk pool for high-cost MiChoice GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 5,000,000 0 0

program participants.
House: The House did not include this funding.

Conference: The Conference did not include this funding.

39



dpersky
Highlight

dpersky
Highlight

dpersky
Highlight


NOTE: Items that do not list Senate, House, or Conference action indicates that chamber agrees
with the Governor's changes. Additionally, items listing a Senate, House or Conference change
agree with the Governor's change unless otherwise indicated.

CHANGES FROM

p A FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26
f Department of Health and Human Services YEAR-TO-DATE
S % YTD (as of 2/05/25) GOVERNOR SENATE HOUSE CONFERENCE GOVERNOR SENATE HOUSE CONFERENCE
203 Early Implementation of Medicaid Work Requirements Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 (26,400,000) 0
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 (20,000,000) 0
House: The House included savings from implementing work requirements GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 (6,400,000) 0
for the Medicaid program by January 1, 2026.
Conference: The Conference did not recognize early implementation of work
requirements and therefore did not include any related savings.
204 Specialty Network Access Fee (SNAF) Adjustment Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 (100,000,000) 0
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 (77,650,000) 0
House: The House removed $100.0 million Specialty Network Access Fee Local NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 (2,235,000) 0
revenue and Federal matching authorization from managed care lines to Restricted NA! NA NA NA NA! 0 0 (20,115,000) 0
implement the provider tax restrictions in the HR1 Reconciliation bill. GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 0
Conference: The Conference did not remove this funding.
205 Rural Transformation Funding Gross 0 0 0 250,000,000 250,000,000 0 0 250,000,000 250,000,000
Federal 0 0 0 250,000,000 250,000,000 0 0 250,000,000 250,000,000
House: The House included federal authorization for expected grant funding for GF/GP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
rural health transformation made available by Public Law 119-21.
Conference: The Conference concurred.
206 Adult Dental Reduction Gross 297,080,100 297,080,100 297,080,100 276,099,500 297,080,100 0 0 (20,980,600) 0
Federal 201,124,300 201,124,300 201,124,300 188,643,700 201,124,300 0 0 (12,480,600) 0
House: The House reduced funding for the Adult Dental Medicaid program. The GF/GP 95,955,800 95,955,800 95,955,800 87,455,800 95,955,800 0 0 (8,500,000) 0
savings will occur through a reduction to general services.
Conference: The Conference did not reduce this funding.
207 Line Item Unrolling. Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 0
GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 0
House: The House unrolled funding for the Healthy Kids Dental Program from the
Dental Services line item, for the MiDocs Program and Rural Access Payments
from the Hospital Services and Therapy line item, and for Healthy Michigan Plan -
Fee-For-Service from the Healthy Michigan Plan line item.
Conference: The Conference did not unroll these line items.
208 Receive and Expend Boilerplate Language
a. Insurance Provider Assessment Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (3,314,791,300)
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (2,686,567,100)
Conference: The Conference removes $3.3 billion of Gross and $0 GF/GP of Restricted NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (628,224,200)
Insurance Provider Assessment (IPA) revenue and associated federal match and GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 0
conditions full funding in Sec.1833 boilerplate that is then appropriated into FY
2025-26 Part 1 upon the Department meeting State and Federal conditions.
b. Quality Assurance Assessment Program/Hospital Rate Adjustor Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (5,522,023,000)
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (3,799,514,900)
Conference: The Conference removes $5.5 billion of Gross and $0 GF/GP of Hospital Restricted NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (1,722,508,100)
Quality Assurance Assessment Program (QAAP) revenue and associated GF/GP NA NA NA NA NA! 0 0 0 0
federal match and conditions full funding in Sec. 1834 boilerplate that is then
appropriated into FY 2025-26 Part 1 upon the Department meeting State and
Federal conditions.
c. MACI Gross NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (494,611,900)
Federal NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (348,176,100)
Conference: The Conference removes $0.5 billion of Gross and $0 GF/GP of Restricted NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 0 (146,435,800)
Michigan Access to Care Initiative (MACI) revenue and associated federal match GF/GP NA! NA NA NA NA! 0 0 0 0

and conditions full funding in Sec. 1834 that is then appropriated into FY 2025-26
Part 1 upon the Department meeting State and Federal conditions.

42



dpersky
Highlight

dpersky
Highlight


NOTE: Items that do not list Senate, House, or Conference action indicates that chamber agrees
with the Governor's changes. Additionally, items listing a Senate, House or Conference change

agree with the Governor's change unless otherwise indicated.

FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 CHANGES FROM
‘fa Department of Health and Human Services YEAR-TO-DATE
s 2% YTD (as of 2/05/25) GOVERNOR SENATE HOUSE CONFERENCE GOVERNOR SENATE HOUSE CONFERENCE
217 House New One-Time Projects Gross 0 0 0 5,029,942,600 0 0 0 5,029,942,600 0
Federal 0 0 0 3,537,239,900 0 0 0 3,5637,239,900 0
House: The House moved all funding for Behavioral Health Medicaid services Local 0 0 0 246,900 0 0 0 246,900 0
into the one-time unit. This includes funding for Autism Services, CCBHCs, Restricted 0 0 0 72,598,700 0 0 0 72,598,700 0
Health Homes, mental health and SUD services provided through traditional GF/GP 0 0 0 1,419,857,100 0 0 0 1,419,857,100 0
Medicaid, and mental health and SUD services provided through the Healthy
Michigan Plan. See Item 115 for the corresponding removal from ongoing.
Conference: The Conference did not move this funding to the one-time unit.
218 Conference New One-Time Projects Gross 0 0 0 0 118,148,300 0 0 0 118,148,300
Federal 0 0 0 0 25,306,900 0 0 0 25,306,900
Conference: The Conference included funding for a number of new one-time GF/GP 0 0 0 0 92,841,400 0 0 0 92,841,400
projects. See Table 10.
TABLE 10: FY 2025-26 NEW ONE-TIME PROGRAMS IN CONFERENCE BUDGET
Program Gross GFI/GP Program Gross GF/GP
1 Multicultural Integration $8,600,000 $8,600,000 17 Let Them Play Fund 758,000 758,000
2 Matrix Human Senices 750,000 750,000 18 Revive Health Clinic 300,000 300,000
3 Permanent Supportive Housing 5,000,000 5,000,000 19 Maggie's Wigs 4 Kids 125,000 125,000
4 Developmental Milestones 500,000 500,000 20 SOS Maternity 1,500,000 1,500,000
5 No-Cost CT Scans and Health Screenings 5,000,000 5,000,000 21 National Kidney Foundation 950,000 950,000
6 MCDC Dental Safety Net 4,000,000 4,000,000 22 The New Foster Care 2,025,000 2,025,000
7 Nazarene Homeless Shelter 2,000,000 2,000,000 23 United We Smile 2,900,000 2,900,000
8 FQHC Training Program 2,000,000 2,000,000 24 EBT Chip Card Conversion 16,000,000 8,000,000
9 SB 29/30 Implementation 299,700 299,700 25 Children's Rehabilitation Hospitals 1,000,000 1,000,000
10 Freestanding Birth Centers and Licensed Midwives Reimbursement 2,881,800 1,000,000 26 Sheridan Hospital 10,000,000 10,000,000
11 Suicide Prevention Council 125,000 125,000 27 VOCA Backfill 5,000,000 5,000,000
12 Blood Pressure Monitors 1,225,100 800,000 28 Behavioral Health Funding 5,108,700 5,108,700
13 Kids' Food Basket 1,000,000 1,000,000 29 CVI Grants 1,800,000 1,800,000
14 Trauma Recovery Center Pilot Program 2,000,000 2,000,000 30 SNAP Error Rate Reduction Initiatives 30,000,000 15,000,000
15 NAYA 800,000 800,000 31 University DSH Backfill 3,500,000 3,500,000
16 Nia's Purpose 250,000 250,000 32 Versiti Cord Blood Bank 750,000 750,000
TOTAL $118,148,300 $92,841,400
Unit Total: One-Time Appropriations
Gross 195,654,900 127,564,100 150,350,500 5,108,606,700 202,056,900 (68,090,800) (45,304,400) 4,912,951,800 6,402,000
Federal 15,354,900 200,000 0 3,537,239,900 25,306,900 (15,154,900) (15,354,900) 3,521,885,000 9,952,000
Local 0 0 0 246,900 [ L] 0 246,900 0
Restricted 25,000,000 15,000,000 0 72,598,700 76,750,000 (10,000,000) (25,000,000) 47,598,700 51,750,000
GF/GP 155,300,000 112,364,100 150,350,500 1,498,521,200 100,000,000 (42,935,900) (4,949,500) 1,343,221,200 (55,300,000),

46



dpersky
Highlight


DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Boilerplate Summary

FY 2024-25
PA 121 FY 2025-26 Changes
379. | Dental Safety Net Payments. (1) Allocates $4.0 million to NEW Executive Not included.
implement an enhanced Medicaid reimbursement rate for | SENATE
dental services. (2) The enhanced rate shall only apply to SEC. Senate Sec. 1633. (1) From the funds appropriated in part 1 for
services delivered by dental safety net providers that have an dental services, the department shall allocate $4,000,000.00
established agreement with a local public health department. to implement an enhanced Medicaid reimbursement rate for
(3.) Requires the department to det_ermlne the enhanced dental services provided to Medicaid-enrolled adults.
reimbursement methodology to reflect increased costs of care
and support provider sustainability (2) The enhanced Medicaid reimbursement rate applies only
to adult services delivered by dental safety net providers that
have an established agreement with a local health
department.
(3) The department shall determine the enhanced Medicaid
reimbursement methodology to reflect increased costs of
care and to support provider sustainability.
House Not included.
Conference | Moved to Sec. 1973. Modified.
380. | IPA Transition. (1) Requires the Department to request a NEW Executive Not included.
reasonable transition period to assure (2) For the first quarterly CONF.
payment after CMS approves a revised IPA, the Department SEC. Senate Not included.
shall work with Treasury to establish a reasonable time period
for submission of that payment. All quarterly payments after House Not included.
are due on the dates specified in the Insurance Provider
Assessment Act. Conference

Sec. 1633. (1) The department of health and human services
shall request from the federal Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services a reasonable transition period to assure
insurance providers have adequate planning time.

(2) For the first quarterly payment due after approval by the
federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services of a
revised insurance provider assessment tax structure, the
department of health and human services and the
department of treasury shall work with insurance providers to

239



dpersky
Highlight


Michigan’s Dental

My Community
Dental Centers

Safety Netis at Risk

Clinics Closing = Michigander’s Losing Access to Dental Care

We are requesting $4 MILLION in safety net payment enhancements to
protect access to dental care for Michigan’s most vulnerable residents.

This includes $2.5M for My Community Dental Centers (MCDC), Michigan’s largest Medicaid dental provider, and $1.5M for other
non-FQHC safety net providers. Michigan’s dental safety net is at a breaking point. These funds are critical to sustaining and

expanding essential dental services, ensuring Michigan’s most vulnerable receive the care they need.

The Growing Divide: Rising Care Costs vs. Inadequate Medicaid Reimbursements

Financial gaps have placed significant strain on safety net providers.

With 65% of our patient population on Medicaid, this funding is critical to continue operating
at full capacity and to prevent further closures.

Today’s care costs more.

25% ]
o Wage increase of 21.3% from 2022
20% to 2024.

15%

Supply cost increase of 9% from
10% 2022 to 2024.

|
- \)—./.

2022 2023 2024

Medicaid reimbursement increase of
4% from 2022 to 2024.

The restructure in 2023 resulted in an increase of 11.5% in providers participating in adult
Medicaid, but only accounted for 2.6% of Medicaid visits. Improved Medicaid reimbursement
rates have not kept pace with the cost of care. From 2018 to 2023, the cost of providing care
increased by 8.4%, rising from $184 to $200. However, the commercial rates have decreased
by 1.3%.

Revenue vs. Expenses Disparity for Individual Services

$200
$150
$100

$50

Est. Net Recall Appt. w/ Xrays Recall Appt. w/o Xrays New Patient Appt.
Revenue -$26.26 -$45.90 -$12.77

6

MCDC Centers
Closed in 2024 and
2025 resulting in

10,000

Impacted Patients
within Michigan

“So sorry we lost ours
in Roscommon. Now |
don't know what I'm
going to do. It's just
heartbreaking
because there is such
a lack of healthcare
and dental care in this
area and so many
people are in need of
the help.”

-Patti, Roscommon



Reimbursement rates are not challenges unique to MCDC—they are
systemic issues threatening the stability of all safety net providers
serving Michigan’s underserved communities.

Economic
Impact

$45 billion lost nationally

Due to untreated dental disease, costing
the US annually in lost productivity.

$245 million work or school
hours lost nationally

Investing in dental care improves workforce,
education, and economic stability and growth.

$400 vs $140

Hospital In-Office
Emergency Emergency
Department Dental Visit
Visit

“l lost my job, my dental
insurance, and half of my
front tooth all within two
weeks. They were able to
work out an affordable
plan to get my smile
restored in time for job
interviews. Simply
amazing people.”

-Josh, Ypsilanti

Patients by Insurance

44.3%

Medicaid

Michigan’s Future Hinges on the
Strength of Dental Safety Net Providers

If safety net providers close across Michigan, the state will experience increased
costs from emergency room visits, worsening public health, and economic losses
due to an unhealthy workforce.

In 2024, MCDC handled 8,086 same-day dental emergencies, saving the state
around $4 million annually in unnecessary ER visits.

This is not just an MCDC problem—this is a Michigan problem. Payment
enhancements are the lifeline needed to stabilize safety net providers and
prevent a statewide crisis in access to oral health care.

If the state fails to act, the consequences will be devastating
— not only for the patients who rely on us, but for Michigan's
economy, workforce, education and public health.

Who We Are

My Community Dental Center’s mission is to enhance community health by
offering quality dental care for all. MCDC operates 28 dental centers statewide,
focusing on broadening access to underserved communities.

MCDC delivers comprehensive care, including routine check-ups, cleanings,
ongoing treatments, and oral health education.

MCDC serves all 83 counties in
Michigan and 1 out of every 6
Medicaid enrolled adults.

Scan to hear from our team ;ﬁ -
members and patients: E"!-".‘:H e

18.6%

Traditional

Grants - .5% ]

Uninsured

92,974

Total patients served
across all centers in 2024

The number of patients served has
risen by nearly 41% since 2015.



Cass County 2025 Reportable Diseases Presented to: Appointed Membrs of the Board of Health
Date Reported: 10/8/2025 Presented by: Julie Beeching RN, BSN Director of Nursing

D YTD 2024 | 2023 2022 2021 2020

z a eb a Ap a Aug ep 0 0 De 0 2024 total total  total  total total
acute flaccid myelitis 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
anaplasmosis 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0
animal bites 4 4 8 5 5 7 9 8 7 57 50 66 73 66 63 61

anthrax

arboviral encephalitides

eastern equine

west nile

zika

babesiosis

blastomycosis

botulism

brucellosis

campylobacteriosis 2 2 1

candidiasis 1

chancroid

chickenpox/varicella

cholera

coccioioidomycosis 1

CPO (CP-CRE) 1

cryptosporidiosis

cyclosporidiosis

dengue fever

diptheria

E-coli 0157:H7

ehrlichiosis

encephalitis

giardiasis 1 1

glanders

guillain-barre syndrome

haemopholis influenzae 1 1

hantavirus

hemolytic uremic syndrome

hemorrhagic fever virus

njw|lo|lo|o|o|Nv]|olo|Nv|o|lolo|lo|lo|ololr|rk|o|lololr|ln|o|lo|lo|lo|o|olo|o|o
0O NOOOOPPOORFRPROOODODOORPRRPFPOOODODOUUODOOOOOOOOoO

[=] fo.] [{-} | S} fo] fo] [o} [«} | S] o] fo] [} (o] o] o] fo) (o} fo] I lo] (o] o] o] o] [o} [« ] o] ol |} (o] (o] Jo] o} o) =]

(=} {33 Ko [V} | N] foll fo) fo] o) | ] fo] fo) I/l ] o) (o] o] fo) [o] o} | lo] fo) lo] o) (o] o] [l (o] lo} | lo] fo} fo] o} (o] fo]
OO OO NOODOODOO0OOWODODOODOOFrRROOORFRrR OOWOORr OO0 oo oo
OO LVOUNUIOODOOFRR OO0ODONMMODOO0ODODODO0OOPPOODORFR OOULIIOODOOOOOOoODOoO

ONOOOOWNDMNOODODODOOODOOOODOOONRPOOOOOPPROOOOOOOOO

hepatitis A

hepatitis B 1 2

hepatitis C acute 3 1 1

hepatitis C chronic 1 3 2 1 1 1 3 4 16 17

hepatitis non A non B 0 0

histoplasmosis 1 1 1 1 4 2 1

influenza virus ILI and confirmed 186 411 141 75 67 7 0 3 98 988 752 1049 933 267 677
kawasaki disease 0 0 0 1 0 0
legionellosis 1 1 0 0 1 2 3
leprosy 0 0 0 0 0 0




Cass County 2025 Reportable Diseases Presented to: Appointed Membrs of the Board of Health
Date Reported: 10/8/2025 Presented by: Julie Beeching RN, BSN Director of Nursing

D YTD 2024 | 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 total total total total total

0 0

D
O
>
O
O
O
O
D
-

o
o
o
o

leptospiriosis

listeriosis 2 0

[N
o
[N
[e)]

lyme disease 2 2 1

malaria

measles

melioidosis

meningitis - aseptic 2

meningitis - bacterial

meningococcal disease

MERS-CoV

mumps

orthopox virsu

pertussis 1 2 3 2

plague

polio

prion disease

psittacosis

Q fever

rabies

rubella

salmonellosis 1

SARS

shigellosis

spotted fever

STEC - shiga toxin e-coli 1

staphylococcus aureus MRSA

N OOOOO0OWOODODOODODODOOODOONNOODO

streptococcus pneumonia,Invasive 1 1 1

=
o

streptococcus pyogenes grp A 1 1

tetanus

toxic shock syndrome

trichinellosis

tuberculosis

tularemia

typhoid fever

vibriosis

VISA(5)/VERSA(4)

O 0O 0O 0000000 UOFrRPrROO0ODOFRROO0ODO0ODO0ODODODO0ODO0ODO0OOFROOONOOR MO
O 0O 0O 000D O0OO0OO0ONOOODODOODWOODODODOODODOODOODOORr OO o
O 0O OO0 00000 WPMAMOOODOO PP OODOODOODODOODOOODONOOO W

yellow fever

[l k=l =] =] «] o] o} lo] o} [«] § S] V) fol I o] fo) fo) | ) lo] (o] o] fol lo] o) [a) o] o) o] lo] o] o] | V) (o] o} (o} [V ] Jlo} o]
o (=] =] o] (o] o) jlo} o] fo) [a] [ ] | N fo] ol [o] | ) fo) § ] o) (o] o] fo] lo] o) fo] L lo} lo] lo} (o] o] jo] o] fo} o] F-J o)
[l [=) o] o) (o] o) jo} jo] jo} (o] [V} 16} fo] Jo} (o] §_} fo} F ) o} (o] Jo} jo} flo] fo} [o] § 3] jo} fo] lo} (o] o] jo} o] fo} o] IV} o)

O OO0 00000 OoOOo

yersiniosis 1 0 2 0

COVID-19 68 46 17 13 4 7 2 10 47 214 412 480 729 3748 5253 2895

RSV pediatric mortality (< 5 yrs of age 0 0 0 na na na na




Van Buren County 2025 Presented to: Appointed Membrs of the Board of Health

Reportable Diseases Date Reported: 10/8/2025 Presented by: Julie Beeching RN, BSN Director of Nursing
D YTD | 2024 | 2023 2022 2021 2020
ep-20 Repo o Period i oh _ An - Aug an O 0 De 0 2024 total total total total total
acute flaccid myelitis 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
anaplasmosis 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
animal bites 11 12 21 17 18 23 17 25 21 165 115 150 117 185 131 151
anthrax 0 0 0 0 0 0
arboviral encephalitides 0 0 0 0 0 0
eastern equine 0 0 0 0 0 0
west nile 0 0 0 0 0 0
zika 0 0 0 0 0 0
babesiosis 0 0 0 0 0 0
blastomycosis 1 1 1 1 1 0 0
botulism 0 0 0 0 0 0
brucellosis 0 0 0 0 0 0
campylobacteriosis 1 1 1 3 1 9 4 20 11 18 12 13 16
candidiasis
chancroid
chickenpox/varicella 1 1
cholera
coccioioidomycosis
CPO (CP-CRE)
cryptosporidiosis 1 1

cyclosporidiosis
dengue fever
diptheria

E-coli 0157:H7
ehrlichiosis
encephalitis
giardiasis 1 1 1
glanders

guillain-barre syndrome
haemopholis influenzae 1 1 2
hantavirus

hemolytic uremic syndrome
hemorrhagic fever virus

Sl =l =] =] =] lo] [o} [«} | ] fo] lo] (o] [o] o] o] L} (o] o] o] [V} [o} =]

AN R, OOONOODUWLUNOOOORFR,R UVIF OO OO0ONOOOOOOOOoODOoO

O|lRr|O|O|O0|O|O|O0|O|—|O|O|O0|0O|O0|O0|r|O|O|Oo|R]|O|O
W NOOOOPMPMODOPOOODOOONOROOOO
P NOOOONRPFOWOOOOOOP~MRr OO O OO
A LT OOOOFRPROOWOODODOOWMMOOOOOoOOo

(=] Fol I N] [} I fo] [o} (o} B o] o] I (o] o] o] fo) (o} [«] § S] lo} (o} (o} § S] o] =)

hepatitis A 1

hepatitis B

hepatitis C acute 1 1 11

hepatitis C chronic 1 2 1 2 17 20 18 12 13 17
hepatitis non A non B 0 0 0 0 0 0
histoplasmosis 3 3 0 0 3 8 3 0
influenza virus ILI & Confirmed 710 1460 714 365 184 29 2 12 277 3753 2552 3547 | 3070 1739 5 1699
kawasaki disease 0 0 0 0 1 0 0
legionellosis 0 3 4 0 1 3 3
leprosy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0




Van Buren County 2025 Presented to: Appointed Membrs of the Board of Health

Reportable Diseases Date Reported: 10/8/2025 Presented by: Julie Beeching RN, BSN Director of Nursing

o > YTD | 2024 | 2023 2022 2021 2020
. % a eb a Ap a Aug ep 0 0 De 0 2024 total total  total total total
0 0 0 0
0 0 1 0

o
o
o

leptospiriosis
listeriosis
lyme disease 1 1 5 10 5 4
malaria
measles
melioidosis
meningitis - aseptic 1 1 1 1
meningitis - bacterial 1
meningococcal disease
MERS-CoV

mumps

orthopox virsu
pertussis 1 1 1 1
plague

polio

prion disease
psittacosis

Q fever
rabies
rubella
salmonellosis 2 1 1
SARS
shigellosis
spotted fever
STEC - shiga toxin e-coli 1
staphylococcus aureus MRSA 1 1
streptococcus pneumonia Inv. 2 2 1 1 1 1 1
streptococcus pyogenes grp A 1 2 1
tetanus

Strep toxic shock syndrome
trichinellosis

tuberculosis 1
tularemia
typhoid fever
vibriosis
VISA(5)/VERSA(4)
yellow fever
yersiniosis 1 2 1 0 4

COVID-19 118 104 42 18 5 2 12 25 60 386 712 879 1254 7475 8410 3877
RSV pediatric mortality (< 5 yrs of age 0 0 0 na na na na

Monthly

o
o

N
[e)]
[y
(o]
N
o
N
w
=
[N
[N
[e)]

OFRP OO0 00000 Fr OO0 WwWNOODOo

[N
w

wWlOoINV|O|lw|Oo|lOo|o|o|o|o|o|lun|o|lo|o|o|w|r|O|O|O
wlo|lw|o|oo|o|Oo|o|o|o|o|o|ln]|o|o|o|o|un|r|O|O|O

OFRPORFRPONOORFRPRORFRPROOOODODOOONOODO

= b O Ul O

=
[N
[N
[N

[
[
[
[
[
[

=
[Ye]

OO R OOO0ODO0OO0OO0OWNNPRPONOPMOOOOOOOOOOOONOOODO
O 0O 0O 000 O0OFRONUUONRPRPFRPROUVOOOOOOOPMMOOOOOPOOOWDO

O OO OO0 Oo0OOoOOoOOo
O OO0 0000 OoOOoOOo

=] (=] =] =] =} I o] o] o} F-3 (-} § S} L o] (o} [o) F Y flo] (o] (o] o] o] o} (o} F - o] o} o) [o) § S} F 3 Jo) (o) fo]

wl|o|o|o|o|o|o|o|o|o|r~]|x
wlo|o|o|o|o|o|o|o|o|wn




	1. VBCDHD BOH Agenda_10082025.pdf
	2. 09102025 Board of Health Minutes - Unapproved.pdf
	3A. Aug-Sept Disbursements Combined.pdf
	August 2025 Disbursements
	Sheet1

	Sept 2025 Disbursements
	Sheet1


	3B. Monthly Financial Report - September 2025 1.pdf
	Revenues
	Expenses

	3C. Preliminary Analysis and Corrective Action Plan_COVID 2021 program audit.pdf
	Corrective Action Plan Form_Van Buren-Cass County DHD_IMMS.pdf

	4A. October 2025 VBCDHD Monthly Report.pdf
	4B. Proposal for Reduced Workweek Pilot.pdf
	4C. 10.8.25 BOH Update on Dental Ad-Hoc Committee_full packet.pdf
	10.8.2025 Update on Dental Ad-Hoc Committee.pdf
	1. Dental Clinic Strategy Staff Report.pdf
	Dental Clinic Strategy Staff Report.pdf

	CASS FAM CLINIC_20251007_145315.pdf

	4D. Dental Safety Net_Boilerplate language FY26.pdf
	4E. Pay Enhancement Infographic '25 MCDC.pdf
	5A. Cass Monthly CD stats 9-2025.pdf
	5B. VB Monthly CD stats 9-2025.pdf

